. T

03057099

EMCOR Annual Report 2002

Grovvth Through Dlversr[y
o Bk Doup Loy




We mede =

\

Details are
what our
business is all
about, and
nobody sweats
them like EMCOR
project managers:
informed and

in touch.

ARG an
integral part
of our customers'
operating strat-
egy is how we
offer real value.
They trust us
to provide basic
services so they
can focus on their
core businesses.

Right:
Tamatha Ferland,
HVAC Froject
Manager

Cover:
John Hathaway,
Lead Technictan




We do stuff. Real work. Real services. Basic to life. Electrical and mechanical

construction. Things every business needs. Facilitiés manageméfnt ' S urity and
energy systems. Plumbing. No one does more of it in more places  customers.
Result? Clean water, comfortable air, heat, léght, safety. L’ife [

EMCOR’s
service know-
how takes many
routes to the
same destination:
a job well done,

a partnership
strengthened.

When
companies
hire EMCOR
they hire the
best: skilled
craftspeople,
leading technol-
ogy, whip-smart
managers.
Responsive.
Principled. Com-
mitted. Integrity
with a “can-do”
attitude.




We Serve a

Across the street or across the globe, EMCOR serves top-notch customers from
all walks of life: transportation, healthcare, high tech, education, pharmaceutical,
and more. It’s a winning strategy that keeps us ahead of market demands and
customer needs. Truth is, we like the view from up here on our toes.

Consumers
like consis-
tency, especially
in the foods they
eat. Which is why
food processing
companies rely on
EMCOR to keep
their products in
America’s shop-
ping carts.

Our goal is to
be known as the
preferred, logical,
safe choice~the
best in the busi-
ness—in all the
markets we serve,




Though not
always obvi-
ous, EMGOR
expertise
touches lives in
many ways,
including the work
we do in water
treatment plants,
sports and
entertainment
complexes,

and museums.




"$20IAJISS SBIlII0B] HODINT 10} o0 Jo Buiod, anil e 'sajels O SS0I0e suQ yueg Ag pejesado sanedold 00z'e 030 vewureyn
oy} 10} Alaisuodsal [Ny BUIAJOAUL ‘1OBAUOD SBOIAISS SBIIIOR) JEA-0a1) PaySISlem & papleme aiam om Anp u| < SIUUIGBIN L A1E
"SOIBIG PANUN UJRISaMPIIN BY} Ul SSIHIAIIOE 89|AISS PUE UOIIONJISUOD N0
j0 8doos pue 9z1s ay) Buipuedxa AQUEDIIUBIS “YSN SWBISAS HOJLLIOD WO SSILBAWOD 6| palinboe am ‘YaJe u| <
"BLI0D 0] SIedA 10 ||e SN ijauaq ||Im
eyl sAem ul Auedwo)) sy pausyibusais pue pabiejus 0s|e am ‘200g U] ‘AJ0IS 8joym syl Loy Jef ale siaquinu
By} INg "wiay1 pareald sHoye asoym ajdoad ayl Jo pnoid pue s)nsai [eioueul} 8sey) yim pases|d A1oA 81,9/

“‘@ourWIOLad 81eIodioD Jo SyewydUaq Jolew sy} |e ul sasea.ldul NBIp-8)gnop
Buipnioul ‘s1nsal pioosl o 1BsA Jayloue 1s0d 0] AWouood AJBUOISSaD8) B WO sebus|eyo JO 1SOY B aUWEDISAD
pUB paJajunoous am ‘1salie siieyo BulAuedwioooe syl sy *eReds) MODWE] 10 Jeaf [JIULA® UR SBM Z00Z

SI9PIOUMO0IS INC

8661 40} 'XB] SLI0OUL JO 18U ‘WaY ABUIDIOBIIXS SOPNIOXT,

Y6628’ L 262'69.° L 981'G6." | ¥€8'19€'2 LEg'e68'c Bopjoeg wenuon
918611 6v2'0L1 £0G°6e2 £e6'ley 0.8'68p Ainba s1apjoyo0Is
av't Lé'é G6'¢C or'e 207 LBleys Jad sBuuies painQg
GLECH 12822 680°0v 2L0'0S 20629 BUIodUl 18N
vga'le 160'8S G26'8L 289'88 Ser'vLL awooul Bunesdo
1/82°¢e2 106'G6e 218'/6¢ £e8’' 168 €928y oud ssoin
v/€'012°2 296'c68°¢C v02'09v‘e PGe'6LY'E LG0‘896°C senusnsy
_M’Q»WQW GBI 000 LO0R, 2008 eyep areys Jod 1dooxo ‘siefjoQ 1o spuesnoy ] u|
L 1

S1YBIYOIH feroueul .




1800 Bunelad( oIy 9 WBpISaly 120110 SANNOBXT JBIYD) PUB UBWRY)
Ane I Asugior SIUUORY ‘| YuBld

N

"§8900NS JNO 0] YONW 0S PaIngLiuoo
ARy oym saako|dwe Ino pue S10}08lI(] JO PJeog N0 YUBY) &M PUEB ‘SISP|0YXO0IS INO O] SUINISI JUSISISUOD JO
UOIlpPEL] INO O} PSIILUWIOD 31 dpA “Juasasd ay) ay(| sawil Buibus|eyo Buipnjour ‘uusd) Buol ayi 10) JINg sem HODINT

‘aAnoeIe Ajeoiborells swooag SeoUEI||R JO SJUBLUISaAUI USUMm pue Ji oisiuniioddo

aq 0} sn Buligeus ‘Aypinbi Buiziwixew Uo pue j0AU02 1S03 U0 SND0J [RUONIPEI]L INO YYIM [[B 11 0P [|IM M pUy <
‘sdiysuoiieal weio Buoas s,530) Jo 8doos ayl puedxa am se saniun)joddo Buljes-ssoio

pue abelaas| leuonelado apinoid (s uonelado jje1aAo INo ojul 30 1o uonelBaiul jusios pue dwold sy <

‘AileAo) 18U} UBIa1 0} pUB SISWIOISND JNO 0] anjeA wd-Buo| Bulig ol Aem 1584 ay) sl
SIU} Fey) analjaqg em se 'sdiysuoiielsl 801A18s Bullindal INo Jo Juswdoaaap pue Yimoldb syl uo 31 IUS3UOD [|IM S <

"OAIS M S10}03S 18%BW Y} puk ‘alelado am Yyolym ui siexew olydelboal sy ‘s801A18S 1NO JO 2d092S 8yl UspB0I]
01 SNUUOD {|IM am £00Z Ul PUB ‘DBQ Ul pUE Sawl} POoD Ul paX)Iom Sey j1apowu sseuisng  ANSIoAip U4Bnoiyl ymmoib, inp <

énJ) pue
pau) aqg ||1m £00¢ 404 Sa1BateLs JNo ‘SuoIIPUoD diouods BuiBua|ieyo Aisnonuiuoo Buunp [eob 1eyl oAsIyoe o)
"©00¢ Ul SUINa ISPJOYXD0IS 1UBISISUOD JO P08 JINO SNUITUOD O] SAIIS ||IM
pUR SJ9UMO [RAO| INO O} premal Jo puly siy} Bulig o} pnoid aie opn "1 0'EG$ 10 9oud pus-1eak e 01 %8°9| Buisu
JesA Ynaiyip Aisa B Buunp s1opjouo0ls INe 0] unlal Ayleay e papiacid 3201S UoWwwod HODWT ‘edoos
pue Ayoeded AloAljlap 821AI8S INO JO JUsWaACIdWI JUSISISUOD U} pue aouewWlIopad sBuluies pIo0s) JNO JO NS B Sy <

"S91RIS PalUN 8y} INoYyBNoIY) SUBIDIUYIS) S31I|I0R) 81IS-UO 0Q0'6 49A0 paiojdwia
pus ek 1B yoiym ‘$SauUIsng SadIAISG Sailiioed HODIWT N0 jo Led jeifaiul ue awooaq (im dnoif Juswabeurw Joluss
S} pue S0 "saiadoud |BLISNPUI PUEB [B1D18UIWIOD JO SISN PUS JO SI0UMO aU1 yiim sdiysuone|al 80I1AI8S 1Us1Inoa.
LUOJ} DALIBP S0 PUB HODINT UDIYm SBNUSASI [enUUE PauiquIod sy} uolj|ig | $ ueyl alous o) BuiBuug ‘ssauisng
SB2IAIBS Sal|Ioe) "§ N Jno J0 8d0os pue az1s vy} pasealoul Apuedubis S370) jo aseydind ay | “saoiniag Buuesuibug
pa1eptiosuo) paseq-eiubia ‘uoibuliiy jo uoisinboe ayl :g00g Ul JUsUSaAL) Jofew puooas IN0 pexyJeW Jaguuda(] <
—g4ag jo Buirel speuB Juswisaaul sSnoiasid S}l paWIJES] $1004 pUE pIepURIS JeaA sy ul 1ajeT 1eek 1se| Bunel
par0idull Ue 9ABIYOE. 0] SaturdlloD ma) AIBA O aUo HODWS Bunjew ‘L eg o1 Bujes ipalo ino Buipeibdn Aq saioljod
Jeroueuly Juspnud jo uonedydde pauldiosip pue JUS)SISUOD INO PazIubo0al 92IAI8S SI0}SOAU| SAPOOIA 48G0100) U| <
"Sgouel|[e 1O SUOIISINDOR [BUOHIPPE 40} SPUN| UsWISaAUl pue LimolB oluebuo Joj lendeo Buiom Buipiaocid ‘sueid
ymmoub uusl-Buoy Jno poddns 0} $80IN0sal [B1ouBLY BU) Yim sn sapiacid Aljioes siy ) yueg sBulneg g 1snyj slueH Ag
pa| SyuEeq BUIU JO dnoib e yim Aljioe) 1pa.id Buinjoasl UolIW G/ 2% TESA-8A1} ‘M3BU B JO Uona|duiod INo Mes Jaquiaidag <

£9e¢ ———386

§veg 3 66

P P e ——————s I}

SR : I e— 1 |

LYGLES € —— 20

(suotjjiw w) suonesdE AQ PRPIACAY YSED ISR

209§ &
%2 62 FIBY YIMOID) [BNULY PUNOdwos)
=Sd3 paing

AR ] S— 1)

{suojiiu w1} wosuy Bupessdy

P11 Fadrt: T e ——— |

0682 C— 1 66

AL i e —————
661'ES L 1 10
1'896'€$ L S— 1

(suoy|iw u) INUBAIY

000 B uspisald
‘Ana W Aauger

5




Our model is
growth through
diversity -
providing more
services to more
markets in more
places than any-
one else. Our core
glectrical and
mechanical con-
struction expertise
is enhanced by
facilities services
outsourcing
opportunities.

Joe O'Leary,

Manager

Plumbing Division




Notice any
new tools?
Today, we're using
communications
technology to boost
the effectiveness
of the best-trained
people in the busi-
ness-ours—making
Saur customers
‘é}ger informed and

Our model
's working!

At EMCOR,

our people are
thelr own best
competition-
that's what it takes
to thrive in a tough
economy. It also
takes a flexible
model that can
quickly match reli-
able basic services
with market
demand.




EMCOR’'s Next
Generation
Facilities
Services is
creating the
new standard
in consulting,
mobile services
and on-site tech-
nical services.
Wireless and
digital technology
has enabled us to
deliver efficient,
high-performing
facilities that

make our cus-
tomers more

competitive in
their markets.

Managing facili-

ties is a whole
new ballgame

and EMCOR is

taking the
lead.

Paul Jones,
A\
R, Chief Engineer

Facilities
systems today
call for skilled
on-site techni-
¢clians who know
how to reduce
operating costs
and improve value
at customers’
facilities. EMCOR
manages over
800 million square
feet of facilities—
plenty of room for
savings there.







ICOR on the move

Getting arcund
the Denver
melro area
will be easier,
thanks to the
mammoth $1.67
billion “T-Rex”
transportation
project. Our
Dynalectric
Company there is
handling the elec-
trical work for a
light rail system,
“smart” traffic
monitoring sys- - ,
tem, street lighting ' /f ~
and signals.

)

Don Moccia,
Pipefitter Foreman




Developing

We lead by
example

life-saving

treatments

is IDEC Pharma- ggnn::@[]ﬁdaﬁedl
ceutical’s busi- Engineering
ness. Dynalectric Services

San Diego is became part
doing its part by of EMCOR

handling electrical
installation, as well
as instrumentation
and controls work
at IDEC’s new
60-acre manufac-
turing and labora-
tory facilities.

last year, it opened
up new opportuni-
ties in the govern-
ment sector.

A good example
is the immense
Ronald Reagan
Building and
International
Trade Center
which CES man-
ages under its
second five-year
contract since

the building
opened in 1898.

0
=
| .

Boston
University
students and
ice hockey
fans will have
good reason to
celebrate next
year when their
new arena and
student recreation
center opens,
EMCCR's J.C.
Higgins is provid-
ing the complete

heating, ventila-
tion and air condi-
tioning system for
the complex,
which will include
a gym, Olympic
size pool, track,
tennis/racquet-
ball courts,
fitness center,
theatre, dining
and lounge areas.



Healthcare
oppertunity is
evidenced

by Gowan's multi-
year heating, ven-
tilation and air
conditioning con-
tract at the Texas
Medical Center’s
new research
facility in Houston.

From

A single scoop
is never enouglh,
and no one knows
it better than
Safeway—with the
possible exception
of EMCOR’s
Shambaugh & Son,
which is doing a
complete retrofit of
Safeway's ice cream
plant in Phoenix,
including engineer-




ofthe information

age and the high
tech industry.

It's also the main
business of
EMC in Boston,
where EMCOR's
Balco/J.C.
Higgins is three
years into a
five-year service
contract. J.C.
Higgins also did
the mechanical

installation for the

facility, whose
clean room and
laboratory envi-
ronment requires

‘Likewise, the :
mechanical sys-

unique service:
apabilities.

tems. All of which
are monitored
and maintained
by full-time,
on-site service
technicians

from Balco/J.C.
Higgins, which
also provides
mobile services
whenever they're
needed on a
24/7 basis.

g0t




Business Overview

The Internet Web site address of EMCOR Group, Inc.
("EMCOR") is http://www.emcorgroup.com. The Company's
annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Forms 10-Q
and current reports on Forms 8-K (and any amendments to
those reports) will be made available free of charge on or
through its Internet Web site as soon as reasonably practicable
after such material is electronically filed with or furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

General

EMCOR is one of the largest mechanical and electrical
construction and facilities services firms in the United States,
Canada, the United Kingdom and in the world. In 2002,
EMCOR had revenues of approximately $3.97 billion. EMCOR
provides services to a broad range of commercial, industrial,
utility and institutional customers through approximately 70
principal operating subsidiaries, joint ventures and a majority-
owned interest in a limited liability company in the United
States. EMCOR has offices in 37 states and the District of
Columbia in the United States, eight provinces in Canada and
10 primary locations in the United Kingdom. In the United Arab
Emirates, Saudi Arabia and South Africa, EMCOR carries on
business through joint ventures. EMCOR'’s executive offices
are located at 301 Merritt Seven Corporate Park, Norwalk,
Connecticut 06851-1060, and its telephone number at those
offices is (203) 849-7800.

EMCOR specializes in the design, integration, installation, start-
up, operation and maintenance of;

e Systems for generation and distribution of electrical power;

e Lighting systems;

o Low-voltage systems, such as fire alarm, security,
communications and process control systems;

e Voice and data communications systems;

¢ Heating, ventilation, air conditioning, refrigeration and clean-
room process ventilation systems; and

e Plumbing, process and high-purity piping systems.

EMCOR also provides services needed to support the
operation of customers’ facilities, which services are not related
to customers’ construction programs. These services,
frequently referred to as facilities services, include site-based
operations and maintenance, mobile maintenance and service,
facilities management, remote monitoring, instaliation and
support for building systems, technical consulting and
diagnostic services, small modification and retrofit projects, and
program development and management for energy systems.
Facilities services are provided to a wide range of commercial,
industrial, utility and institutional facilities, including those at
which EMCOR provided construction services and others at
which construction services were provided by other
contractors. EMCOR’s varied facilities services are frequently
combined to provide integrated service packages which
include mechanical, electrical and other services.

EMCOR provides mechanical and electrical construction
services and facilities services directly to corporations,
municipalities and other governmental entities, owners/
developers and tenants of buildings. It also provides these
services indirectly by acting as a subcontractor to general
contractors, systems suppliers and other subcontractors.
Worldwide, EMCOR employs approximately 26,000 people.

EMCOR’s revenues are derived from many different customers
in numerous industries which have operations in several
different geographical areas. Of EMCOR's 2002 revenues,
approximately 78% were generated in the United States and
approximately 21% were generated internationally. In 2002,
approximately 42% of revenues were derived from new
construction projects, while the remaining 58% were derived
from renovation and retrofit of customers’ existing facilities
(41%) and facilities services operations (17%). For the period
1999 through 2002, revenues and EBITDA grew at compcund
annual growth rates of 11.3% and 21.9%, respectively.

On December 19, 2002, EMCOR acquired Consolidated
Engineering Services, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively,
“CES”). CES had 2002 revenues in excess of $400.0 million, of
which $8.4 million is reflected in EMCOR's 2002 revenues, and
employs approximately 3,400 technical and service employees
in over 20 states in the Northeast, Midwest, Mid-Atlantic and




Southeast regions. CES provides a broad array of facilities
services to a customer base that includes pharmaceutical,
industrial, financial services and commercial companies, as
well as federal government agencies. CES provides its services
to approximately 9,500 facilities comprising approximately

265 million square feet of space.

The Business
The broad scope of EMCOR's operations is more particularly
described below.

Mechanical and Electrical Construction

Services and Facilities Services

EMCOR believes that the mechanical and electrical
construction services and facilities services business is highly
fragmented, consisting of thousands of small companies
across the United States and around the world. Because
EMCOR has total assets, annual revenues, net worth, access
1o bank credit and surety bonding, and expertise significantly
greater than most of its competitors, EMCOR believes it has

a significant competitive advantage. The mechanical and
electrical construction services industry has a higher growth
rate than the overall construction industry, due principally to the
increase in content and complexity of mechanical and electrical
systems in all types of projects. This increased content and
complexity is, in part, a result of the expanded use of
computers and more technologically advanced voice and data
communications, lighting, and environmental control systems
in all types of facilities. For these reasons, buildings of all types
consume more electricity per square foot than in the past and
thus need more extensive electrical distribution systems. In
addition, advanced voice and data communication systems
require more sophisticated power supplies and extensive low-
voltage and fiber-optic communications cabling. Moreover, the
need for greater environmental controls within a building, such
as the heightened need for climate control to maintain extensive
computer systems at optimal temperatures, and the growing
demand for environmental control in individual spaces, have
created expanded opportunities for the mechanical and
electrical construction services and facilities services business.

Mechanical and electrical construction services primarily involve
the design, integration, installation and start-up of: (1) systems
for the generation and distribution of electrical power, including
power cables, conduits, distribution panels, transformers,
generators, uninterruptible power supply systems and related
switch gear and controls; (2) lighting systems, including fixtures
and controls; (3) low-voltage systems, including fire alarm,
security, and process control systems; (4) voice and data
communications systems, including fiber-optic and low-voltage
copper cabling; (5) heating, ventilation, air conditioning,
refrigeration and clean-room process ventilation systems; and
(8) plumbing, process and high-purity piping systems.

Mechanical and electrical construction services generally fall
into one of two categories: (1) large installation projects with
contracts often in the multimillion dollar range that involve
construction of industrial and commercial buildings and
institutional and public works facilities or the fit-out of large
blocks of space within commercial buildings; and (2) smaller
installation projects typically involving fit-out, renovation and
retrofit work.

EMCOR’s mechanical and electrical construction services
operations accounted for about 83% of its 2002 revenues,

of which revenues approximately 51% was related to new
construction and approximately 49% was related to renovation
and retrofit projects. EMCOR provides mechanical and
electrical construction services for both large and small
installation and renovation projects. Its largest projects include
those: (1) for institutional use (such as water and wastewater
treatment facilities, hospitals, correctional facilities, schools and
research laboratories); (2) for industrial use (such as
pharmaceutical plants, steel, pulp and paper mills, chemical,
automotive and semiconductor manufacturing facilities, and ol
refineries); (3) for transportation projects (such as highways,
airports and transit systems); {4) for commercial use (such as
office buildings, data centers, hotels, casinos, convention
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centers, sports stadiums, shopping malls and resorts); and
{5) for power generation and energy management projects.
EMCOR’s largest projects, which typically range in size from
$10.0 million up to and occasionally exceeding $50.0 million
and are usually multiyear projects, represented about 27%
of EMCOR’s construction services revenues in 2002.

EMCOR's projects of less than $10.0 million accounted for
approximately 73% of 2002 construction services revenues.
These projects are typically completed in less than a year. They
usually involve mechanical and electrical construction services
when an end-user or owner undertakes construction or
modification of a facility to accommodate a specific use. These
projects frequently require mechanical and electrical systems to
meet special needs such as redundant power supply systems,
special environmental controls and high-purity air systems,
sophisticated electrical and mechanical systems for data
centers, including those associated with Internet service
providers and electronic commerce, trading floors in financial
services businesses, new production lines in manufacturing
plants, and office arrangements in existing office buildings.
They are not usually dependent upon the new construction
market. Demand for these projects and types of services is
often prompted by the expiration of leases, changes in
technology or changes in the customer’s plant or office layout
in the normal course of a customer’s business.

EMCOR performs its services pursuant to contracts with
owners, such as corporations, municipalities and other
governmental entities, general contractors, systems suppliers,
construction managers, developers, other subcontractors and
tenants of commercial properties. Institutional and public works
projects are frequently long-term complex projects that require
significant technical and management skills and the financial
strength to obtain bid and performance bonds, which are often
a condition to bidding for and winning these projects.

16

EMCOR alse installs and maintains street, highway, bridge

and tunnel lighting, traffic signals, computerized traffic control
systems, and signal and communication systems for mass
transit systems in several metropolitan areas. In addition, in the
United States, EMCOR manufactures and installs sheet metal
air handling systems for both its own mechanical construction
operations and for unrelated mechanical contractors. EMCOR
also maintains welding and pipe fabrication shops in support of
some of its own mechanical operations.

In the early 1980’s, the market for facilities services grew rapidly
in the United Kingdom as a result of government initiatives.
EMCOR’s United Kingdom subsidiary expanded its traditional
technical service business in response to these opportunities
and established a dedicated unit to focus on the facilities
services business. This unit currently provides a full range

of facilities services to public and private sector customers
under multiyear agreements, including the maintenance of
British Airways’ facilities at Heathrow and Gatwick Airports,
GlaxoSmithKline Research Laboratories, and the Jubilee Line
Extension of the London Underground. In the United Kingdom,
EMCOR also provides facilities services at several BAE
Systems manufacturing plants. In addition, the United Kingdom
operations provide on-call and mobile service support on a
task-order or contract basis, small renovation project work, and
installation and maintenance services for data communications
and security systems.

EMCOR, by virtue of its construction and facilities services
expertise, is involved with private finance initiatives (“PFIs”)
sponsored by the British government. The PFls, which involve
governmental bodies responsible, among other things, for the
national healthcare system, social security, air traffic control,
schools and hospitals, seek to transfer ownership and
management of United Kingdom government facilities,
Including office buildings and institutional buildings, to groups
of financial institutions, consulting service organizations, and
others, which competitively bid for PFI contracts. EMCOR has
been awarded several contracts by such groups to provide
mechanical and electrical services, grounds maintenance and
other ancillary services for periods typically ranging from five to




35 years at buildings which were formerly owned and managed
by government bodies and privatized as part of the PF
program. EMCOR has built on its United Kingdom experience
to market its facilities services business to international markets
and currently provides facilities services through a joint venture
to several companies in South Africa.

In 1997, EMCOR established a subsidiary to expand its facilities
services operations in North America patterned on its United
Kingdom business. This unit has built on EMCOR’s traditional
mechanical and electrical services operations, facilities services
activities at its mechanical and electrical contracting
subsidiaries, and EMCOR's client relationships, as well as
acquisitions, to expand the scope of services currently offered
and to develop packages of services for customers on a
regional, national and global basis.

As a consequence, the Company’s facilities services unit
presently offers a broad range of facilities services, including
maintenance and service of mechanical and electrical systems,
which EMCOR has historically provided to customers following
completion of construction projects, and site-based operations
and maintenance, mobile maintenance and service, facilities
management, remote monitoring, installation and support for
building systems, technical consulting and diagnostic services,
small modification and retrofit projects, and program
development and management for energy systems.

EMCOR’s facilities services are provided to a wide range of
commercial, industrial and institutional facilities, including both
those for which EMCOR provided construction services and
those for which construction services were provided by others.
The services are frequently bundied to provide integrated
service packages and may include services in addition to
EMCOR'’s core mechanical and electrical services. Services
are provided from EMCOR’s locations on a mobile basis or
from a customer’s site by EMCOR employees assigned

to the customer premises.

These services, which generated approximately 17% of 2002
revenues, are provided to owners, operators, tenants and
managers of all types of facilities, both on a contract basis for a
specified period of time and on an individual task order basis.

EMCOR has experienced an expansion in the demand for its
facilities services which it believes is driven by customers’
decisions to focus on their own core competencies, the
increasing technical complexity of their facilities and their
mechanical, electrical, voice and data and other systems, and
the need for increased reliability, especially in mechanical and
electrical systems. These trends have led to outsourcing and
privatization programs whereby customers in both the private
and public sectors seek to contract out those activities that
support, but are not directly associated with, the customer's
core business.

lllustrative of the outsourcing of companies’ facilities services

is a three-year agreement, expiring June 2005, with Bank One
under which EMCOR provides comprehensive facilities
management services for approximately 2,200 Bank One
facilities encompassing 34 millicn square feet of space in 30
states; its 41 year agreement with LAM Research, expiring
December 2006, under which EMCOR provides such services
to approximately one million square feet of laboratory and office
space; and its three-year agreement with Mattson Technology,
Inc., expiring December 2005, under which EMCOR provides
integrated services to approximately 800,000 square feet of
commercial space. In April 2000, EMCOR and CB Richard Ellis
Inc., a nationwide real estate management company, created
a limited liability company, in which EMCOR has a majcrity
interest and principally provides operations and maintenance
services to over 10,000 commercial facilities comprising
approximately 30 million square feet of space.

As noted earlier, in December 2002 EMCOR acquired CES, a
facilities services business, which generated in 2002 in excess
of $400.0 million in revenues, of which $8.4 million is reflected
in EMCOR's 2002 revenues. Its services are provided to
approximately 8,500 facilities with an aggregate of
approximately 265 million square feet of space. In Washington,
D.C., CESis the second largest facilities services provider to
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the federal government behind the General Services
Administration and currently provides services to such
preeminent buildings as the National Archives and the Ronald
Reagan Building, the second largest government facility after
the Pentagon. It currently provides its services in 27 states
throughout the Northeast, Midwest, Mid-Atlantic, and
Southeast. As part of its operation, CES is responsible for:

(i) the oversight of all or most of a business’s facility operations,
including operation and maintenance; (i) the oversight of
logistical processes; (i} tenant services and management;

(iv) servicing upgrade and retrofit of HVAC, electrical, plumbing,
and industrial piping and sheet metal systems in existing
facilities; and (v) diagnostic and solution engineering for building
systems and their components.

The deregulation of, and increased competition in, the utility
industry, along with government mandates calling for reduced
energy consumption by government entities, have led to
renewed focus on energy costs and conservation measures.
These measures typically include energy assessments and
engineering studies, retrofit construction to implement energy
savings measures, and the implementation of energy savings
measures to ensure continued performance. Various
subsidiaries of EMCOR participate in energy savings programs,
such as an energy conservation project for Washington Mutual,
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which evolved from the facilities services provided by EMCOR
to Washington Mutual. EMCOR believes it has the ability to be
a single source provider of construction and facilities services
required for energy assessment and for design, installation, and
operations and maintenance of energy savings measures.

The deregulation and expansion of the telecommunications
industry has led to a rapid expansion of installed infrastructure,
including wireless communication systems and long-distance
networks, much of which has been developed by companies
that do not have maintenance capabilities and which seek to
contract out such services, EMCOR has provided construction
services for the infrastructure of telecommunications
companies and facilities services to support their operations.
In this industry, EMCOR has installed and maintained
equipment for suppliers such as Lucent, Nortel, and Siemens
and has provided construction and maintenance services to
local service providers and to users who maintain their own
systems. While the construction of these facilities is at the
present time largely complete, they require on-going
maintenance, and EMCOR has agreements with several
telecommunications companies to provide such services.

EMCOR believes mechanical and electrical construction
services and facilities services activities are complementary,
permitting it to offer customers a comprehensive package of
services. The ability to offer both construction and facliities
services should enhance EMCOR's competitive position with
customers. Furthermore, EMCOR's facilities services
operations tend to be less cyclical than its construction
operations because facilities services are more responsive to
the needs of an industry’s operational requirements rather than
its construction reguirements.

For financial information about the results of the Company’s
operating segments for each of the last three fiscal years, see
Note M of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data has been derived from thereto and the reports of independent auditors therecn
audited financial statements and should be read in conjunction included elsewhere in this and in previous annual reports.
with the consolidated financial statements, the related notes

Years Ended December 31,

(I thousands, except per share data) 2002 2007 2000 1689 1908 \
Income Statement Data
Revenues $ 3,968,051 | $3,419,854  $ 3,460,204 $2,893962 $2,210,374
Gross profit 482,634 391,823 357,817 295,907 223,287
Operating income 114,425 88,682 78,925 58,091 37,224
Income before extraordinary item 62,802 50,012 40,089 27,821 17,092
Extraordinary item—loss on early

extinguishment of debt, net of income taxes - - - - 4,777)
Net income $ 62902 $ 50012 $ 4008 $ 27821 $ 12,315
Basic earnings per share:
Income before extraordinary item $ 423 | % 386 % 384 % 28 % 1.67
Extraordinary item-loss on early

extinguishment of debt, net of income taxes - - - - (0.47)
Basic earnings per share $ 4231 % 386 % 3.84 $ 28 §$ 1.20
Diluted earnings per share: ‘
Income before extraordinary item $ 4071 $ 340 % 295 $ 2.21 $ 1.46
Extraordinary item-loss on early

extinguishment of debt, net of income taxes - - - - (0.35)
Diluted earnings per share $ 407 | $ 340 % 2905 $ 2.21 $ 1.11

As of December 31,

(In thousands) 2002 2001 2000 1888 1988
Balance Sheet Data
Stockholders’ equity (a) $ 489870 | $ 4210933 $ 233503 $ 170,249 $ 119,816
Total assets $ 1,758,491 $ 1,349,664 $1,261,864 $ 1,052,246 $ 801,002
Goodwill $ 290,412 $ 56,011 $ 67625 $ 68009 $ 22,745
Notes payable $ 21,815] $ 573 % - 3 1,150 3 8,314
Borrowings under working capital credit lines $ 112,000 | $ - 5 - % - $ -
Other long-term debt, including current
maturities $ 1,015 | $ 973 $ 116,056 $ 116534 $ 116,086
Capital lease obligations $ 351 $ 249  § 573 & 554  $ 837

(a) No cash dividends on EMCOR's common stock have been paid during the past five years.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results
of Operations and Financial Condition

Highlights

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2002 were

$3.97 billion, compared to $3.42 billion and $3.46 billion for the
years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Net
income was $62.9 million for 2002, an increase of $12.9 million,
or 25.8%, from $50.0 million for 2001. For 2000, net income
was $40.1 million. Diluted earnings per share on net income
were $4.07 per share for 2002, compared to $3.40 per share
for 2001 and $2.95 per share for 2000.

On March 1, 2002, EMCOR acquired from Comfort Systems
USA, Inc. (the “Seller”) a group of companies (the “Acquired
Comfort Companies”). Accordingly, the Consolidated Results of
Operations for EMCOR for the year ended December 31, 2002
include the results of operations for the Acquired Comfort
Companies since March 1, 2002. The purchase price paid for a
100% voting interest of the Acquired Comfort Companies was
$186.25 miliion and comprised $164.15 million in cash and
$22.1 million by assumption of Seller's notes payable to former
owners of certain of the Acquired Comfort Companies.
Pursuant to the terms of the acquisition agreement, an
additional $7.1 million of cash purchase price was paid by
EMCOR to Seller subsequent to the acquisition date due to an
increase in net assets of the Acquired Comfort Companies
between the closing date and an agreed upon preclosing date.
The acquisition was funded with $121.25 million of EMCOR’s
funds and $50.0 miliion from borrowings under EMCOR’s
revolving credit facility. The Acquired Comfort Companies,
which are based predominantly in the Midwest United States
and New Jersey, are active in the installation and maintenance
of mechanical systems and the design and installation of
process and fire protection systems. Services are provided

to a broad range of businesses, including food processing,
pharmaceutical and manufacturing/distribution.

On December 19, 2002, EMCOR acquired all the capital

stock of Consolidated Engineering Services, Inc. (‘CES”)

from Archstone-Smith Operating Trust and others. CES
primarily provides a broad array of facility services including
comprehensive facilities management, site-based operations
and maintenance, mobile maintenance and services, remote
monitoring, technical consulting and diagnostic services, and
the installation and support for building systems. The purchase
price paid for CES was $178.0 million, of which $156.0 million
was paid from borrowings under EMCOR’s revolving credit
facility and $22.0 million from EMCOR’s funds. The purchase
price is subject to adjustment based on the difference between
the net assets of CES on the closing date and an agreed upon
preclosing date.

EMCOR acquired two additional companies during 2002 for
which EMCOR paid an aggregate of $3.4 million.

Operating Segments

EMCOR’s business consists of the following operating
segments: United States electrical construction and facilities
services, United States mechanical construction and facilities
services, United States other services, Canada construction
and facilities services, United Kingdom construction and
faciiities services and Other international construction and
facilities services. The segment “United States other services”
principally consists of those operations which provide
consulting and maintenance services, and Other international
construction and facilities services consists of EMCOR's
operations outside of the United States, Canada, and the
United Kingdom (primarily South Africa, the Middle East and
Western Europe) performing electrical construction, mechanical
construction and facilities services.

Appilication of Critical Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements are based on the
application of significant accounting policies, which require
management to make significant estimates and assumptions.
EMCOR's significant accounting policies are described in
Note B-Summary of Significant Accounting Policies of the
notes to consolidated financial statements included in ltem 8
of this Form 10-K. There was no initial adoption of any
accounting policies during 2002 other than those listed under
“New Accounting Pronouncements” below. EMCOR believes
that some of the more critical judgment areas in the application
of accounting policies that affect the financial condition and
results of operations are: the impact of changes in the
estimates and judgments pertaining to: (a) revenue recognition
from (i) long-term construction contracts for which the
percentage of completion method of accounting is used and
(i) services contracts; (b) collectibility or valuation of accounts
receivable; (C) insurance liabilities; (d) income taxes; and

(e) intangible assets.

Revenue Recognition for Long-term Construction Contracts
and Services Contracts

EMCOR believes its most critical accounting policy is revenue
recognition from long-term construction contracts for which
EMCOR uses the percentage-of-completion method of
accounting. Percentage-of-completion accounting is the
prescribed method of accounting for long-term contracts in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States, Statement of Position No. 81-1, “Accounting
for Performance of Construction—Type and Certain
Production—Type Contracts” and, accordingly, the method
used for revenue recognition within EMCOR's industry.
Percentage-of-completion for each contract is measured
principally by the ratio of costs incurred to date for each
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition {continued)

contract to the estimated total costs for each contract at
completion. Certain of EMCOR?’s electrical contracting business
units measure percentage-of-completion by the percentage of
labor costs incurred to date for each contract to the estimated
total labor costs for such contract. Provisions for the entirety of
estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made in the
period in which such losses are determined. Application of
percentage-of-completion accounting results in the recognition
of costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on
uncompleted contracts in its consolidated balance sheets.
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on
uncompleted contracts reflected on the consolidated balance
sheets arise when revenues have been recognized, but the
amounts cannot be billed under the terms of contracts.

Such amounts are recoverable from customers upon various
measures of performance, including achievement of certain
milestones, completion of specified units or completion of a
contract. Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings
on uncompleted contracts also include amounts EMCOR
seeks or will seek to collect from customers or others for
errors or changes in contract specifications or design,
contract change orders in dispute or unapproved as to both
scope and price, or other customer-related causes of
unanticipated additional contract costs. Such amounts are
recorded at estimated net realizable value and take into
account factors that may affect the ability to bill and collect
amounts billed. Due to uncertainties inherent within estimates
employed to apply percentage-of-completion accounting,
estimates may be revised as project work progresses.
Application of percentage-of-completion accounting requires
that the impact of those revised estimates be reported in the
consolidated financial statements prospectively.

In addition to revenue recognition for long-term construction
contracts, EMCOR recognizes revenues from services
contracts as these services are performed in accordance with
Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in
Financial Statements” (*SAB 101"). There are two basic types
of services contracts: 1) fixed price services contracts which
are signed in advance for maintenance, repair and retrofit work
over periods typically ranging from one to three years (for which
there may be EMCOR employees on the customer’s site full
time); and 2} services contracts not signed in advance for
similar maintenance, repair and retrofit work on an as needed
basis. Fixed price services contracts are generally performed
evenly over the contract period, and accordingly, revenue is
recognized on a pro-rata basis over the life of the contract.
Revenues derived from other services contracts are recognized
when the services are performed in accordance with SAB 101.
Expenses related to all service contracts are recognized as
services are provided.
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Accounts Receivable

EMCOR is required to estimate the collectibility of accounts
receivable. A considerable amount of judgment is required in
assessing the realization of receivables, which assessment
factors include the creditworthiness of the customer, EMCOR's
prior collection history with the customer and related aging of
the past due balances. The provisions for bad debts during
2002, 2001, and 2000 amounted to approximately $3.4 million,
$2.9 million and $6.4 million, respectively. At December 31,
2002 and 2001, accounts receivable of $965.0 million

and $777.1 million, respectively, included allowances of

$40.8 million and $35.1 million, respectively. Specific accounts
receivable are evaluated when EMCOR believes a customer
may not be able to meet its financial obligations due to a
deterioration of its financial condition, credit ratings or
bankruptcy. The allowance requirements are based on the best
facts available and are re-evaluated and adjusted as additional
information is received.

Insurance Liabilities

EMCOR has deductibles for certain workers’ compensation,
auto liability, general liability and property claims, has self-
insured retentions for certain other casualty claims, and is self-
insured for employee-related health care claims. Losses are
recorded based upon estimates of the liability for claims
incurred and an estimate of claims incurred but not reported.
The liabilities are derived from known facts, historical trends and
industry averages utilizing the assistance of an actuary to
determine the best estimate of these obligations. EMCOR
believes its liabilities for these obligations are adequate.
However, such obligations are difficult to assess and estimate
due to numerous factors, including severity of injury,
determination of liability in proportion to other parties, timely
reporting of occurrences and effectiveness of safety and risk
management programs. Therefore, if actual experience differs
from the assumptions and estimates used for recording the
liabilities, adjustments may be required and would be recorded
in the period that the experience becomes known.

Income Taxes

EMCOR has net deferred tax assets primarily resulting from
deductible temporary differences, which will reduce taxable
income in future periods. A valuation allowance is required
when it is more likely than not that all or a portion of a deferred
tax asset will not be realized. As of December 31, 2002 and
2001, the total valuation allowance on net deferred tax assets
was approximately $2.1 million and $3.8 million, respectively.




Intangible Assets
As of December 31, 2002, EMCOR had goodwill and net
identifiable intangible assets of $290.4 million and $13.8 million,
respectively, in connection with the acquisition of certain
companies. The determination of related estimated useful lives
for identifiable intangible assets and whether those assets are
impaired involves significant judgments based upon short and
long-term projections of future performance. Certain of these
forecasts reflect assumptions regarding the ability to
successiully integrate acquired companies. Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, "Goodwill and

Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”) requires goodwill to

be tested for impairment under certain circumstances, and
written down when impaired, rather than being amortized

as previous standards required. Furthermore, SFAS 142
requires identifiable intangible assets other than goodwill to

be amortized over their useful lives unless these lives are
determined to be indefinite. Changes in strategy and/or market
conditions may result in adjustments to recorded intangible
asset balances. As of December 31, 2002, no indicators of
impairment of its goodwill or identifiable intangible assets
existed after EMCOR’s initial and first annual impairment review
in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 142, See Note B—
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies of the notes to
consolidated financial statements for additional discussion of
the provisions of SFAS 142,

Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations

Revenues

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2002 increased
16.0% to $3.97 billion compared to $3.42 billion of revenues
for 2001. The $548.2 million increase in revenues for 2002
when compared to 2001 was primarily due to revenues of
$502.6 million from companies acquired in 2002 and to
increased revenues in the United States other services,
Canada and the United Kingdom segments of $27.0 miliion,
$118.1 million and $70.3 million, respectively. Partially
offsetting this increase was a reduction, when compared to
2001, of revenues related to “fast-track” (projects with
accelerated time tables earlier than typical contracts for similar
projects) telecom and other contracts, as well as a shift to
larger, longer-term projects, which typically result in revenue
being recognized over a longer period of time. Revenues for
2001 of $3.42 billion represented a 1.2% decrease over
revenues of $3.46 billion for 2000, The $40.3 million decrease
in revenues for 2001 compared to 2000 was primarily due to
reduced fast-track data center construction in the New York,
Chicago, Washington, D. C. and California markets, as well as
a reduced level of activity in the Las Vegas and Ohio markets
and in Canada. The decrease was partially offset by growth in
revenues associated with energy generation projects and
transportation infrastructure construction on the United States
West and East Coasts and revenue growth from various
operations in the Boston area market.

The following table presents EMCOR's revenues by operating segment and the approximate percentages of total revenues for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 (in millions, except for percentages):

3

2002 Toter 2001 ot 2000 Tl

Revenues
United States electrical construction and facilities services
United States mechanical construction and facilities services
United States other services

Total United States operations

Canada construction and facilities services

United Kingdom construction and facilities services
Other international construction and facilities services

Jotal worldwide operations

$1,350.7 39%
1,262.1 36%

$1,152.4 29%
1,728.7 44%

$1,334.7 39%
1,202.1 35%

236.7 6% 209.7 6% 163.9 5%
3,117.8 79% 2,746.5 80% 2,7786.7 80%
316.3 8% 198.2 6% 237.0 7%
533.9 13% 463.6 14% 446.2 13%

- - 11.6 - 0.3 -
$3,968.0 100% | $3,419.9 100%  $3,460.2 100%
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition (continued)

- Revenues for EMCOR's United States electrical construction
and facilities services segment for 2002 decreased by

$182.3 million compared to 2001, The decrease in revenues
was primarily due to a reduction in fast-track telecom and other
contracts in 2002 compared to the prior year. During 2002,
transportation infrastructure work increased and energy
generation work remained steady compared to the prior year.
The $16.0 milion, or 1.2%, decrease in 2001 revenues
attributable to this segment compared to 2000 was due to
reduced levels of fast-track data center and commercial
construction in the New York, Chicago, Washington D. C. and
California markets, as well as reduced levels of activity in the
Las Vegas and Ohio markets. The decrease was partially offset
by increases in revenues associated with energy generation
and transportation infrastructure construction markets on the
West and East Coasts and increased revenues from various
activities in the Salt Lake City market.

United States mechanical construction and facilities services
revenues increased in 2002 by $526.6 million, or 43.8% when
compared to 2001. This increase in revenues was primarily
attributable to $488.5 million of revenues from the Acquired
Comfort Companies and growth in revenues in the Northern
Callifornia market. These increases were partially offset by
decreased revenues as a result of the performance of fewer
fast-track contracts. A $60.0 million, or 4.8%, decrease in
revenues for 2001 compered to 2000 was due to reduced fast-
track data center construction, reduced levels of activity in the
Las Vegas and Denver markets and planned reductions in
operations at EMCOR's Poole & Kent subsidiary operations in
the North and South Carofina markets. The decrease in
revenues was partially offset by increased revenues associated
with energy generation construction on the West and East
Coasts and increased revenues from the Boston area market,

United States other services revenues, which include those
operations that principally provide consulting and maintenance
services, increased by $27.0 million, or 12.9%, for 2002
compared t0 2001. The increase in revenues was attributable
primarily to an increase in facilities services contracts and, to a

24

lesser extent, to revenues from the acquisition of CES, partially
offset by a decline in telecommunications related work.
Revenues for 2001 increased by $45.8 million compared to
2000. The increase in revenues was primarily attributable to
an increase in maintenance services provided to customers.

Revenues of Canada construction and facilities services
increased by $118.1 million, or 59.6%, for 2002 as compared
10 2001 revenues. The increase in revenues was primarily
attributable to the performance of work on certain long-term
contracts. The $38.8 million, or 16.4%, decrease in revenues
for 2001 compared with 2000 was attributable to project start
date delays in Eastern Canada and a reduction of revenues in
Western Canada due to timing of anticipated projects.

United Kingdom construction and facilities services revenues
increased $70.3 million, or 15.2%, for 2002 compared to 2001
revenues principally due to growth in the facilities services
market, offsetting a decline in the overall construction market.
The decline in the overall construction market principally
resulted in fewer attractive bid opportunities, and thereby
caused EMCOR to be more selective in submitting project bids.
Construction revenues for 2002 do not include revenues from
certain multiyear rail projects that were awarded in 2002 which
will produce revenues in future periods. The $17.4 million, or
3.9%, increase in 2001 revenues compared with 2000
revenues was principally due to growth in construction

and facilities markets in the United Kingdom during the first
half of 2001.

Other international construction and facilities services revenues
primarily consist of EMCOR’s operations in the Middle East,
South Africa and Europe. Revenues from those operations
were zero for 2002, $11.6 million for 2001 and $0.3 million

for 2000. All of the 2002 projects in these markets are being
performed by joint ventures. The results of these joint venture
operations are accounted for under the equity method of
accounting because EMCOR has less than majority ownership
in foreign joint ventures, and, accordingly, revenues attributable
to such joint ventures are not reflected as revenues in the
consolidated financial statements. in 2001, certain European
projects were performed entirely by EMCOR subsidiaries and
therefore, revenues were recorded. EMCOR continues to
pursue new business selectively in these markets; however, the
availability of opportunities has been significantly reduced as a
result of local economic factors, particularly in the Middle East.




Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

The following table presents EMCOR's cost of sales, gross

profit, and gross profit as a percentage of revenues, for the
“years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 (in millions,

except for percentages):

—
% 2001 2000 |
Cost of sales $ 34854 | $ 30280 $ 3,1024
Gross profit $ 4826 | $ 3918 $ 3578
Gross profitas a
percentage
of revenues 12.2% 11.5% 10.3%

Gross profit increased $90.8 million, or 23.2%, for 2002
compared to 2001. Gross profit as a percentage of revenues
was 12.2% for 2002 compared to 11.5% for 2001, The
increase in gross profit was primarily due to gross profit of
$81.2 mitlion earned by companies acquired in 2002. The
increase in gross profit of $9.6 million attributable to EMCOR's
other subsidiaries was due to the type and location of
construction and facilities services contracts performed,
efficient deployment of local labor, effective procurement of
materials and focus on risk management programs. The
increase in gross profit as a percentage of revenues was
principally attributable to the Acquired Comfort Companies and
their higher gross profit as a percentage of sales in 2002 as
compared to EMCOR in 2001, as well as improvements for
gross margin in EMCOR’s other subsidiaries. Gross profit
increased $34.0 million, or 9.5%, for 2001 compared to 2000,
and gross profit as a percentage of revenues increased to
11.5% for 2001 compared with 10.3% for 2000. The dollar
increase in gross profit, as well as the increase in gross profit as
a percentage of revenues, were primarily due to an increase in
gross profits realized due to the type and location of
construction and facilities services contracts performed and
continued improvement in project management.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

The following table presents EMCOR’s selling, general and
administrative expenses, and selling, general and administrative
expenses as a percentage of revenues, for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 (in millions, except for
percentages):

. —

Selling, general &

administrative

expenses $ 368.2 | $ 3031 $ 2789
Selling, general &

administrative

expenses as a

percentage of

revenues 9.3% 8.9% 8.1%

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased

$65.1 million, or 21.5%, between 2002 and 2001. As a
percentage of revenues, total selling, general and administrative
expenses increased to 9.3% in 2002 as compared t0 8.9% in
2001. The dollar increase and increase in expenses as a
percentage of revenues during 2002 compared to 2001 was
primarily attributable to $61.0 million of expenses of companies
acquired in 2002 and increased variable selling, general and
administrative expenses in certain markets, which increased
expenses were partially offset by a $5.5 million reduction in
goodwill amortization expense as goodwill is no longer required
to be amortized per SFAS 142, Selling, general and
administrative expenses increased $24.2 million, or 8.7%,
between 2001 and 2000. As a percentage of revenues, total
selling, general and administrative expenses increased to 8.9%
in 2001 as compared to 8.1% in 2000. This dollar increase and
increase in expenses as a percentage of revenues during 2001
as compared to 2000 was primarily attributable to the type and
location of construction and facilities services contracts
performed, increased variable overhead costs associated with
marketing and business development efforts and expansion of
information technology infrastructure support. Goodwill
amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2002
and 2001 was zero and $5.5 million, respectively. Amortization
expense of certain identifiable intangible assets associated with
the Acquired Comfort Companies was $0.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2002.
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Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition (continued)

Operating Income

The following table presenis EMCOR’s operating income, and operating income as a percentage of segment revenues, for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 (in millions, except for percentages):

Operating income {loss)
United States electrical construction and facllities services
United States mechanical construction and facilities services
United States other services

Total United States operations

Canada construction and facilities services

United Kingdom construction and facilities services
Other international construction and facilities services
Corporate administration

Total worldwide operations
Other corporate items:

Interest expense

Interest income

Income before taxes

Operating income increased for the United States electrical
construction and facilities services operations for 2002
compared to 2001. The dollar increase in operating income for
2002 of $3.6 million, or 4.8%, as compared to 2001, and the
related increase as a percentage of revenues, was primarily
attributable to the increased activity from increased
transportation infrastructure and continuing energy generation
construction projects on the West Coast, the successiul
completion and settlement of several contracts and increased
operating income attributable to various commercial and
industrial projects in the San Diego, Las Vegas, Washington
D.C. and Denver markets offset, in part, by a reduction in fast-
track data center construction work across other markets.
Operating income for 2001 for the United States electrical
construction and facilities services operations increased
$16.7 million, or 28.5%, from 2000 levels. The increase in
operating income, and operating income, as a percentage of
revenues, for 2001 versus 2000 was attributable to an increase
in operations associated with transportation infrastructure and
power plant construction contracts on the West and East
Coasts, and increased levels of activily in the Salt Lake City
market. This increase in operating income was partially offset
by reduced levels of fast-track data center construction
projects in the San Francisco, Washington D.C. and Denver
markets and the decrease in construction activity in the Las
Vegas market.
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Segment Segment Segrment !
2002 Revenues 2007 Revenues 2000 Revenuss |
$ 789 68% | $ 753 56% $ 586  43%
60.3  3.5% 414 3.4% 359  28%
33  1.4% (7.2) - (5.5) -
1425  4.6% 1095  4.0% 880  3.2%
33  1.0% 23 1.2% 52  22%
0.0 - 72 1.8% 60  13%
(0.1) - (1.2) - 0.5 -
(31.3) - @9.1) - 21.8) -
114.4 2.9% 88.7 2.6% 789 2.3%
4.1) (4.8) ©9.7)
2.0 5.6 2.4
$ 1123 $ 895 $ 71.6

United States mechanical construction and facilities services
operating income increased $18.9 million for 2002, a 45.7%
increase over 2001. This increase in dollars and increase as a
percentage of revenues was primarily due to: (i} operating
income from the Acquired Comfort Companies of $19.7 million;
(i} operating income associated with power plant construction
contracts on the West Coast; and (i) improved results at the
Poole & Kent subsidiary operations which had losses in the
prior year. The increases were partially offset by reduced
operating income attributable to fewer fast-track contracts in
the 2002 than the prior year. Operating income for 2001
compared to 2000 increased $5.5 million, or 15.3%, and as a
percentage of revenues increased to 3.4% from 2.8%, primarily
due to: () increased energy generation construction projects on
the West and East Coasts, partially offset by a reduction in
construction projects in the Las Vegas market; and (i) reduced
losses at certain Poole & Kent subsidiaries compared to the
prior year.

United States other services operating income was $3.3 million
for 2002 compared to operating losses of $7.2 million for 2001,
The increase in operating profit was primarily attributable to
new facilities services contracts and a decrease in selling,
general and administrative expenses as the facilities services
operations became more established and thus required less
overhead spending relating to the development of new
business. The contribution to 2002 operating income by CES,
which was acquired on December 19, 2002, was not material.
Operating losses in this segment for 2001 compared to 2000




increased by $1.7 million primarily due to costs associated with
the continued development of the consulting operations and
maintenance services activities of EMCOR.

Canada construction and facilities services operating income
increased by $1.0 million for 2002 compared to 2001 principally
due to increased work on longer-term contracts that result

in profit recognition over an extended time period, partially
offset by a reduction in the number of fast-track type contracts.
For 2001 compared to 2000, operating income decreased

by $2.9 million principally due to project start date delays

in Eastern Canada for certain projects in backlog and a
reduction of revenues in Western Canada due to the timing

of anticipated projects.

United Kingdom construction and facilities services operating
income decreased by $7.2 million for 2002 compared to 2001.
The decrease in operating income was primarily attributable to
unfavorable settlements and closecuts of certain construction
projects completed during the year. During 2002 the facilities
services business continued to realize increased revenues and
operating income while the construction activities have slowed
since 2001. For 2001, operating income increased by

$1.2 million as compared to 2000. This increase was primarily
attributable to growth in construction and facilities markets in
the United Kingdom during the first half of 2001.

Other international construction and facilities services operating
losses were $0.1 million for 2002 compared to operating losses
of $1.2 million in 2001 and operating income of $0.5 million in
2000, EMCOR coentinues to pursue new business selectively in
the Middle Eastern, South African and European markets;
however, the availability of opportunities has been significantly
reduced as a result of local economic factors, particularly in

the Middle East.

General corporate expenses for 2002 increased by $2.2 million
from 2001 levels, and increased by $7.3 million between 2001
and 2000. The increase in general corporate expenses was
primarily due to the expansion of operations support activities
such as information technology infrastructure, human
resources and communications in order to meet the level of
service expected by clients and manage the increased number
of operations due to acquisitions. Costs asscciated with the
integration of companies acquired during 2002 were
approximately $0.5 million of the $2.2 million increase from
2001 to 2002.

interest expense decreased by $0.7 million in 2002 compared
to 2001 principally due to the conversion of $115.0 million of
EMCOR'’s 5.75% Convertible Subordinated Notes into
approximately 4.2 miflion shares of EMCOR common stock

in the second quarter of 2001. For the same reason, interest
expense decreased by $4.9 million in 2001 compared to 2000.

Interest income decreased by $3.6 million in 2002 compared
with 2001, Interest income increased by $3.2 mitiion in 2001
compared to 2000. The decrease in interest income for
2002 compared to 2001 was due to a reduction in cash on
hand in 2002 related to cash used for acquisitions and
repayment of borrowings related to the acquisitions, and

to lower interest rates.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table presents EMCOR’s net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities, investing activities and financing
activities for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001
(in millions):

——
] 2002 2001 |

Net cash provided

by operating activities $ 1547 | $ 81.1
Net cash used in

investing activities $ (364.8) | $ (31.2)
Net cash provided by

financing activities $ 1134 | $ 2.2

The Company’s consolidated cash balance decreased by
$96.7 million from $189.8 million at December 31, 2001 to
$93.1 million at December 31, 2002 primarily due to the use of
cash for the acquisition of the Acquired Comfort Companies
and CES, partially offset by net cash provided by operating
activities. Net cash provided by operating activities for 2002
was $154.7 million, an increase of $73.6 million from

$81.1 million for 2001. The cash provided by operating
activities in 2002 was primarily due to increased net income,
increased accounts payable, increased accrued expenses and
decreased accounts receivable, partially offset by increased
contracts in progress, net. Net cash used in investing activities
in 2002 of $364.8 million consisted primarily of payments of an
aggregate of $334.7 million for acquisitions in 2002 and earn-
out payments of $8.6 million for acquisitions in prior pericds,
net disbursement for other investments of $7.7 million and
$15.6 million for the purchase of property, plant and equipment.
This activity compares to net cash used in investing activities for
2001 of $17.9 million for the purchase of property, plant and
equipment, $8.8 million for payments for acquisitions and
related earn-out agreements for prior year acquisitions and net
disbursements for other investments of $6.5 million. Net cash
provided by financing activities for 2002 of $113.4 million was
primarily attributable to borrowings under working capital credit
lines used to finance the CES acquisition in December 2002
and proceeds from the exercise of stock options, offset by a
reduction due to net repayments of long-term debt and capital
lease payments.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition (continued)

The following is a summary of EMCOR'’s material contractual obligations and other commercial commitments (in millions):

Payments Due by Period

Contractual 1-3 -8

Cbligations Ve EEHS

Notes payable 3 218  § 218 % - 3 - % -
Other long-term debt 1.0 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.3
Capital lease obligations 0.4 0.2 0.2 - -
Operating leases 141.9 38.6 55.1 259 22.3
Open purchase obligations (1) 340.4 293.1 35.3 12.0 -
Other long-term obligations (2) 87.8 - 87.8 - -
Total Contractual Obligations $ 5933 $ 3540 § 1786 § 381 % 22.6

Amount of Cormmitment Expiration by Period
[fojct Lass

Other Commercial ATEITES e 13 48 Affer
Commitments Cornmiias i veer YEETS YERrs 5 YeE"S
Revolving Credit Facility (3) $ 1120 3 - 3 - 8 1120 3 -
Letters of credit 338.9 12.0 1.3 1.3 25.3
Guarantees 25.0 - - - 25.0
Total Commercial Commitrrents $ 1769 $ 120 § 13 8 1133  § 50.3

(1) Represent open purchase orders for material and subcontracting costs related to the Company’s construction and service contracts. These purchase orders
are net reflected in EMCOR’s consolidated balance sheet and should not impact future cash flows as amounts will be recovered through customer billings.

(2) Represent primarily insurance related liabilities, the timing for which payments beyond one year is not practical to estimate.
(8) EMCOR classifies these borrowings as short-term on its consolidated balance sheet because of EMCOR's intent and ability to repay the amounts on a

short-term basis.

On September 26, 2002, EMCOR entered into a new

$275.0 million five year revolving credit agreement (the
“Revolving Credit Facility”). The Revolving Credit Facility, which
replaced a credit facility entered into on December 22, 1998
(the "1998 Credit Facility”}, is guaranteed by certain direct and
indirect subsidiaries of EMCOR, is secured by substantially all
of the assets of EMCOR and most of its subsidiaries, and
provides for borrowings in the form of revolving loans and
letters of credit. The Revolving Credit Facility contains various
covenants requiring, among other things, maintenance of
certain financial ratios and certain restrictions with respect to
cumulative aggregate payments for dividends, common stock
repurchases, investments, acquisitions, indebtedness and
capital expenditures. A commitment fee is payable on the
average daily unused amount of the Revolving Credit Facility.
The fee ranges from 0.3% to 0.5% of the unused amount,
based on certain financial tests. Loans under the Revolving
Credit Facility bear interest at: (1) a rate which is the prime
commercial lending rate announced by Harris Trust and
Savings Bank from time to time (4.25% at December 31, 2002)
plus 0% to 1.0%, based on certain financial tests; or (2) at a
LIBOR rate (1.38% at December 31, 2002) plus 1.5% to 2.5%
based on certain financial tests. The interest rates in effect at
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December 31, 2002 were 4.25% and 2.88%, respectively.
Letter of credit fees issued under this facility range from
0.75% to 2.5% and are charged based on the type of letter of
credit issued and certain financial tests. As of December 31,
2002 and 2001, EMCOR had approximately $39.9 million
and $20.5 million of letters of credit outstanding, respectively.
EMCOR had borrowings of $112.0 million outstanding

under the Revolving Credit Facility at December 31, 2002.

No revolving loans were outstanding under the 1998 Credit
Facility at December 31, 2001.

In August 2001, the Company’s Canadian subsidiary,
Comstock Canada Ltd., renewed a credit agreement with

a bank providing for an overdraft facility of up to Cdn.

$0.5 million. The facility is secured by a standby letter of credit
and provides for interest at the bank's prime rate (4.0% at
December 31, 2002). There were no borrowings cutstanding
under this credit agreement at December 31, 2002 or 2001.

A subsidiary of EMCOR has guaranteed indebtedness of a
venture in which it has a 40% interest; the other venture partner,
Baltimore Gas and Electric, has a 60% interest. The venture
designs, constructs, owns, operates, leases and maintains
facilities to produce chilled water for sale to customers for use




in cooling. These guarantees are not expected to have a
material effect on EMCOR’s financial position or results of
operations. Each of the venturers is jointly and severally liable,
in the event of default, for the venture's $25.0 million borrowing
due December 2031. During September 2002, each venture
partner contributed equity to the venture, of which EMCOR's
contribution was $14.0 million.

There are $22.3 million in current maturities of EMCOR's
jong-term debt and capital lease obligations as of December
31, 2002. $21.8 million of this amount relates to notes payable
to former owners of the Acquired Comfort Companies, which
were assumed in connection with the acquisition. These notes
accrue interest at an annual rate of 10% and are payable in
April 2003.

EMCOR is contingently liable to sureties in respect of
performance and payment bonds issued by sureties, usually

at the request of customers in connection with construction
projects which secure EMCOR payment and performance
obligations under contracts for such projects. In addition, at the
request of unions representing EMCOR employees, bonds are
provided to secure such obligations for wages and benefits
payable to or for such employees. As of December 31, 2002,
sureties had issued bonds for the account of EMCOR in the
aggregate amount of approximately $1.3 billion. To the extent
such bonds were for the benefit of customers (as opposed to
unions), they related to over 675 construction projects. The
bonds are issued by EMCOR’s sureties in return for a premium
which varies depending on the size of the bonds. The individual
amounts for bonded projects range up to $170.0 million.
EMCOR has agreed to indemnify the sureties for any payments
made by them in respect of bonds.

On March 18, 1998, EMCOR sold, pursuant to an underwritten
public offering, $115.0 miliion principal amount of 5.75%
Convertible Subordinated Notes. During the second guarter

of 2001, EMCOR called its 5.75% Convertible Subordinated
Notes for redemption. As a consequence, all of the Convertible
Subordinated Notes were converted into approximately

4.2 million shares of EMCOR common stock.

EMCOR does not have any other material financial guarantees
or off-balance sheet arrangements other than those discussed
herein.

The primary source of liguidity for EMCOR has been, and is
expected to continue to be, cash generated by operating
activities. EMCOR also maintains a revolving credit facility that
may be utilized, among other things, to meet short-term
liquidity needs in the event cash generated by operating
activities is insufficient, or to enable EMCOR to seize

opportunities to participate in joint ventures or to make
acquisitions that may require access to cash on short notice
or for any other reason. EMCOR may also increase fiquidity
through an equity offering or other debt instruments. Short-
term changes in macroeconomic trends may have an effect,
positively or negatively, on liquidity. In order to manage through
these uncertainties, EMCOR generally will not borrow funds to
the maximum amounts allowable and, therefore, should have
the capacity to borrow funds, if necessary, to meet short-term
requirements. In addition to managing berrowings, EMCOR's
focus on the facilities services market is intended to provide an
additional buffer against economic downturns as the facilities
services market is characterized by annual and multiyear
contracts that provide a more predictable stream of cash
flows than the construction market. The acquisition of CES in
December 2002, which is primarily facilities services market
focused, is part of EMCOR’s plan to grow its services business.
Short-term liquidity is also impacted by the type and length of
construction contracts in place. During economic downturns,
such as the 2001 through 2002 period, construction contracts
trended away from short-cycle contracts toward larger longer-
term infrastructure and public sector contracts. Perforrmance of
longer duration contracts usually requires higher upfront cash
requirements until billings can occur in accordance with
contractual provisions. While EMCOR strives to maintain a

net over-billed position with its customers, there can be no
assurance that the net over-billed position can be maintained.
EMCOR's net over-billings, defined as the balance sheet
accounts cost and estimated earnings in excess of billings on
uncompleted contracts less billings in excess of costs and
estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts, was $127.3
million and $97.9 million as of December 31, 2002 and 2001.

LLong-term liquidity requirements can be expected to be met
through cash generated from operating activities, the Revolving
Credit Facility, and the sale of various secured or unsecured
debt and/or equity interests in the public and private markets.
Based upon EMCOR’s current credit ratings and financial
position, EMCOR can reasonably expect to be able to issue
long-term debt instruments and/or equity. For example, in
September 2002, EMCOR was able to increase its capacity

to borrow under credit facilities from $150.0 miltion to

$275.0 million. Over the long term, EMCOR’s primary

revenue risk factor continues to be the level of demand for
non-residential construction services, which is in turn
influenced by macroeconomic trends including interest rates
and governmental economic policy. In order to provide
protection against demand cycles in private sector construction
services, EMCOR has increased its participation, and its
backlog of contracts, in the public sector and in the facilities
services market.
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Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition {continued)

EMCOR believes that current cash balances and borrowing
capacity available under existing lines of credit or other forms of
financing available through debt or equity offerings, combined
with cash expected to be generated from operations, will be
sufficient to provide short-term and foreseeable long-term
liquidity and meet expected capital expenditure requirements.
However, EMCOR is a party to several lawsuits and other
proceedings in which other parties seek to recover from it
amounts ranging from a few thousand dollars to $50.0 million.
if EMCOR was required to pay damages in ocne or more such
proceedings, such payments could have a material adverse
effect on its cash flow and/or earnings.

Certain Insurance Matters

As of December 31, 2002, EMCOR was utilizing approximately
$24.5 million of letters of credit obtained under its Revoiving
Credit Facility as collateral for its insurance obligations.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 145, “Rescission of FASB
Statements Nos. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB
Statement No. 13 and Technical Corrections” which is effective
for fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002. This statement,
among other matters, provides guidance with respect to the
accounting for gain or loss on capital leases that were modified
to become operating leases. The statement also eliminates the
requirement that gains or losses on the early extinguishment of
debt be classified as extraordinary items and provides guidance
when the gain or loss on the early retirement of debt should or
should not be reflected as an extraordinary item.

In July 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 146, “Accounting for Costs
Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” This statement
requires that costs associated with terminating employees or
contracts or closing or relocating facilities are to be recognized
at fair value at the time the liability is incurred. The Company
does not anticipate that this statement will have an effect on its
financial statements when it becomes effective for disposal
activities initiated after December 31, 2002.
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In November 2002, the FASB issued Financial Accounting
Standards Board Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees,
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, an
interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57, and 107 and
Rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34” (“FIN 45” or the
“Interpretation”). FIN 45 clarifies the requirements of FASB
Statement No. 5, "Accounting for Contingencies,” relating to
the guarantor’s accounting for, and disclosure of, the issuance
of certain types of guarantees. FiN 45 requires that upon
issuance of a guarantee, the entity (i.e., the guarantor)

must recognize a liability for the fair value of the obligation

it assumes under that guarantee. The disclosure provisicns of
the Interpretations are effective for financial statements of
interim or annual periods that end after December 15, 2002.
The Interpretation’s provisions for initial recognition and
measurement should be applied on a prospective basis to
guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002,
irrespective of the guarantor’s fiscal year-end. The guarantor’s
previous accounting for guarantees that were issued before the
date of FIN 45's initial application may not be revised or restated
to reflect the effect of the recognition and measurement
provisions of the Interpretation. EMCOR has guarantees that
will be subject to the accounting and disclosure provisions of
the Interpretation, and therefore, adoption of FIN 45 may
impact disclosures in the first quarter of its next fiscal year.
EMCOR is currently evaluating the recognition and
measurement impacts of adoption.

In January 2008, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation-Transition and Disclosure” (“SFAS 148"). SFAS
148 amends FASB Statement No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”) to provide alternative
methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value
based method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation. In addition, SFAS 148 amends the disclosure
requirements of SFAS 123 to require prominent disclosures in
both annual and interim financial statements of the method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the
effect of the method used on reported results. SFAS 148 was
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2002
and was adopted by EMCOR for all periods presented.
EMCOR did not change to the fair value based method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation; and
therefore, adoption of SFAS 148 will impact only future
disclosures, not the financial resuits, of EMCOR.




Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

EMCOR has not used derivative financial instruments for any
purpose during the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001,
including trading or speculating on changes in interest rates, or
commodity prices of materials used in its business.

EMCOR is exposed to market risk for changes in interest rates
for borrowings under its Revolving Credit Facility. Borrowings
under the credit facility bear interest at variable rates, and the
fair value of this borrowing is not significantly affected by
changes in market interest rates. As of December 31, 2002,
there was $112.0 million of borrowings outstanding under the
Revolving Credit Facility, and these borrowings bear interest at:
(1) a rate which is the prime commercial lending rate
announced by Harris Trust and Savings Bank from time to time
(4.25% at December 31, 2002) plus 0% to 1.0%, based on
certain financial tests; or (2) at a LIBOR rate (1.38% at
December 31, 2002) plus 1.5% to 2.5% based on certain
financial tests. Based on the borrowings outstanding of
$112.0 million, if interest rates were to increase by 1.0%, the
net of tax interest expense would increase $0.7 miflion in the
next 12 months. Conversely, if interest rates were to decrease
by 1.0%, interest expense would decrease by $0.7 million in
the next 12 months. The Revolving Credit Facllity expires in
September 2007. There is no guarantee that EMCOR will be
able to renew the agreement at its expiration.

EMCOR is also exposed to market risk and its potential related
impact on accounts receivable or costs and estimated earnings
in excess of bilings on uncompleted contracts. The amounts
recorded may be at risk if customers’ ability to settle these
obligations is negatively impacted by economic conditions.
EMCOR continually monitors the credit worthiness of its
customers and maintains on-going discussions with customers
regarding contract status with respect to change orders and
billing terms. Therefore, EMCOR believes it takes appropriate
action to manage market and other risks, but there is no
assurance that it will be able to reasconably identify all risks

with respect to collectibility of these assets. Refer alse to the
previous discussion of Accounts Receivable under the heading,
“Application of Critical Accounting Policies.”

Amounts invested in EMCOR’s foreign operations are
translated into U. S. dollars at the exchange rates in effect at
year end. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded as
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), a component
of stockholders' equity, in the consolidated balance sheets.
EMCOR believes the exposure to the effects that fluctuating

foreign currencies may have on the consolidated results of
operations is limited because the foreign operations primarily
invoice customers and collect obligations in their respective
local currencies. Additionally, the cost of revenues associated
with these transactions is generally contracted and paid for in
their same local currencies.

This annual report contains certain forward-fooking statements
within the meaning of the Private Securities Reform Act of
1995, particularly statements regarding market opportunities,
market share growth, competitive growth, gross profit, and
selling, general and administrative expenses. These forward-
looking statements involve risks and uncertainties that could
cause actual results to differ materially from those in any such
forward-looking statements. Such risks and uncertainties
include, but are not limited to, adverse changes in general
economic conditions, changes in the specific markets for
EMCOR'’s services, adverse business conditions, decreased
or lack of growth in the mechanical and electrical construction
and facilities services industries, increased competition,
pricing pressures and risk associated with foreign operations
and other factors.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,
\_ 1
{In thousands, except share and per share data) 2002 WQCL_J‘
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 93,403 | $ 189,766
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $40,611
and $35,091, respectively 964,968 777,102
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of bilings on uncompleted contracts 235,809 221,272
Inventories 12,271 7,158
Prepaid expenses and other 28,784 22,026
Total current assets 1,334,935 1,217,324
Investments, notes and other long-term receivables 24,642 16,817
Property, plant and equipment, net 70,750 42,548
Goodwill 290,412 56,011
Identifiable intangible assets, less accumulated amortization of $756 13,845 -
Other assets 23,907 16,964
Total assets $ 1,758,491 | $ 1,349,664
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Borrowings under working capital credt line $ 112,000 | $ -
Current maturities of long-term debt and capital lease obligations 22,276 947
Accounts payable 409,562 313,227
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts 363,092 319,165
Accrued payroll and berefits 159,416 121,186
Other accrued expenses and liabilities 113,628 99,726
Total current liabilities 1,179,875 854,261
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations 805 848
Other long-term obligations 87,841 72,622
Total liabilities 1,268,621 927,731
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.10 par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized, zero issued
and outstanding - -
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 30,000,000 shares authorized, 16,050,862
and 15,945,699 shares issued and outstanding, respectively 161 159
Capital surplus 312,393 307,636
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (5,148) (5,424)
Retained earnings 199,300 136,398
Treasury stock, at cost, 1,131,985 shares (16,8356) (16,836)
Total stockhoiders’ equity 489,870 421,933
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1,758,491 $ 1,349,664

The accompanying notes o consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

For the Years Ended Decernber 31,

{in thousands, except per share data) 2002 2001 @JOXOX@J
Revenues $ 3,968,051 $ 3,419,854 $ 3,460,204
Cost of sales 3,485,417 3,028,031 3,102,387
Gross profit 482,634 391,823 357,817
Selling, general and administrative expenses 368,209 303,141 278,892
Operating income 114,425 88,682 78,925
Interest expense (4,096) (4,795) (9,705)
Interest income 1,897 5,587 2,367
Income before income taxes 112,326 89,474 71,587
Income tax provision 49,424 39,462 31,498
Nat income $ 6292 $ 50012 $ 40,089
Basic earnings per share $ 4231 8§ 386 % 3.84
Diluted earnings per share $ 407 | $ 340 $ 2.95

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

{In thousands;)

For the Years Ended December 31,

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided
by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of goodwill
Amortization of identifiable intangible assets
Provision for doubtful accounts
Deferred income taxes
Non-cash expense for amortization of debt issuance costs
Non-cash expense for Restricted Stock Units
Non-cash interest expense for converted subordinated notes
Provision in lieu of income taxes

Change in operating assets and liabilities excluding effect
of businesses acquired:
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable
(Increase) decrease in inventories and contracts in progress, net
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
Increase in accrued payroll and benefits and other accrued expenses and liabilities
Changes in other assets and liabilities, net

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sales of assets
Purchase of property, plant and equioment
Payments for acquisitions of businesses and related earn-out agreements
Net (disbursements) proceeds from other investments

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from working capital credit lines
Repayments of working capital credit lines
Borrowings for long-term debt
Repayments for long-term debt
Net repayments for capital lease obligations
Net proceeds from exercise of stock options

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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I ——
$ 62902 50,012 $ 40,089
15,371 12,694
- 5,506
755 -
3,354 2,856
7,432 3,725
630 890
557 1,132 -
- 1,239 -
- 21,425 24,422
91,001 99,479 88,267
28,464 48,974 (118,629)
(14,174) (69,217) 76,376
32,653 (52,337) 22,222
14,860 47,836 19,533
1,893 (3,644) 3,667
154,697 81,091 91,436
1,818 1,925 2,765
(15,585) (17.939) (16,698)
{343,358) (8,750) (4,234)
(7,679) (6,453) 7,047
{364,803) (31,217) (11,120)
248,000 - 722,829
(136,000) - (722,829)
70 2,930 5,114
(1,100) (2,761) (6,686)
(34) {26) (37)
2,507 2,064 426
113,443 2,207 (1,183)
(96,663) 52,081 79,133
189,766 137,685 58,552
$ 93103 | $ 189766 $ 137,685




Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Eguity and
Comprehensive Income

gfer

jicial
Stogke ComS CORTOIEISrEvE Corapie-
aldersy e @iial Treerng Rsteined Tregdury oS e)
(Inthousands) @qulty Stoolk SIS oSSl EEMITGE SioeH o
Balance, December 31, 1899 $170,249 3 117  $142894 $ (2,223) $ 46,297  $(16,836)
Net income 40,089 - - - - 40,089 - % 40,089
Foreign currency translation
adjustments (1,683) - - {1,683) - - (1,683)
Comprehensive income - - - - - - $ 38406
Provision in lieu of income taxes 24,422 - 24,422 - - -
Common stock issued under
stock option plans 426 - 426 - - -
Balance, December 31, 2000 233,503 17 167,742 (3,906) 86,386 (16,836)
Net income 50,012 - - - 50,012 - $ 50,012
Foreign currency translation
adjustments (1,518) - - (1,518) - - (1,518)
Comprehensive income - - - - - - $ 48,494
Provision in lieu of income taxes 21,425 - 21,425 - - -
Common stock issued under
stock option plans 2,083 - 2,083 - - -
Conversion of 5.75%
Convertible Subordinated
Notes (2) 113,874 42 113,832 - - -
Value of Restricted Stock
Units (3) 2,574 - 2,574 - - -
Balance, December 31, 2001 421,933 159 307,636 (5,424) 136,398 (16,836)
Net income 62,902 - - - 62,902 - 8% 62,902
Foreign currency translation
adjustments 3,725 - - 3,725 - - 3,725
Pension plan additional
minimum liability, net of
tax benefit of $1.9 milion (3,449) - - (3,449) - - (3,449)
Comprehensive income - - - - - - $ 63,178
Common stock issued under
stock option plans 2,507 2 2,505 - - -
Value of Restricted Stock
Units (3) 2,252 - 2,252 - - -
Balance, December 31, 2002 $489,870 $ 161 $312,303 $ (5,148) $199,300 $ (16,836)

(1) Represents cumulative foreign currency translation and minimum pension liability adjustmenits.

(2) Represents conversion of $115.0 million 5.75% convertible subordinated notes into common stock, net of related interest and deferred financing costs.

(3) Shares of common stack will be issued in respect of restricted stock units. This amount represents the value of restricted stock units at the date of grant plus the
related compensation expense in the current year due to an increase in market value of the underlying common stock. As of October 2002, the terms of the restricted
stock unit plan were changed resulting in fixed plan accounting after the grant date from the date of this change for both existing and new grants.

The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Nee A | Nature of Operations

EMCOR Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and subsidiaries
(collectively "EMCOR?”) is one of the largest mechanical and
electrical construction and facilities services firms in the United
States, Canada, the United Kingdom and in the world. EMCOR
specializes in the design, integration and installation and start-
up of: (1) systems for the generation and distribution of
electrical power, including power cables, conduits, distribution
panels, transformers, gererators, uninterruptible power supply
systems and related switch gear and controls; (2) lighting
systems, including fixtures and controls; (3) low-voltage
systems, including fire alarm, security, and process control
systems; (4) voice and data communications systems,
including fiber-optic and low voltage copper cabling;

(5) heating, ventilation, air conditioning, refrigeration and clean-
room process ventilation systems; and (8) plumbing, process
and high-purity piping systems. EMCOR provides mechanical
and electrical construction services and facilities services
directly to corporations, municipalities and other governmental
entities, owners/developers and tenants of buildings. It also
provides these services indirectly by acting as a subcontractor
to general contractors, systems suppliers and other
subcontractors. Mechanical and electrical construction
services generally fall into one of two categories: (1) large
installation projects with contracts often in the multi-million
dollar range that involve construction of industrial and
commercial buildings and institutional and public works facilities
or the fit-out of large blocks of space within commercial
buildings; and (2) smaller installation projects typically involving
fit-out, renovation and retrofit work. In addition, EMCOR
provides services needed to support a customer’s facilities not
related to construction projects. These services, frequently
referred to as facilities services, include site-based operations
and maintenance, mobile maintenance and service, facilities
management, remote monitoring, small modification and retrofit
projects, technical consulting and diagnostic services,
installation and support for building systems, and program
development and management for energy systems. These
services are provided to a wide range of commercial, industrial,
and institutional buildings including facilities at which EMCOR
provided construction services and at which construction
services were provided by others. Facilities services are
frequently bundled to provide integrated service packages and
may include services in addition to EMCOR's core mechanical
and electrical services.
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Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts

of EMCOR and its majority-owned subsidiaries. Significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
All investments over which EMCOR exercises significant
influence, but does not control (a 20% to 50% ownership
interest), are accounted for using the equity method

of accounting.

The results of operations for the year ended December 31,
2002 include, from the respective dates of acquisition, the
results of a group of companies (the “Acquired Comfort
Companies”) acquired from Comfort Systems USA, Inc.
(“Seller”) on March 1, 2002 and the results of Consolidated
Engineering Services, Inc. (“CES") acquired cn December 19,
2002.

Principles of Preparation

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements,

in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States, requires EMCOR to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabllities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications of prior years data have been made in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements where
appropriate to conform to the current presentation.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues from long-term construction contracts are
recognized on the percentage-of-completion method.
Percentage-of-completion is measured principally by the
percentage of costs incurred to date for each contract to the
estimated total costs for each contract at completion. Certain
of EMCOR's electrical contracting business units measure
percentage-of-completion by the percentage of labor costs
incurred to date for each contract to the estimated total labor
costs for such contract. Revenues from services contracts are
recognized as services are provided. There are two basic types
of services contracts: 1) fixed price facility services contracts
which are signed in advance for maintenance, repair and retrofit
work over periods typically ranging from one to three years (for
which there may be EMCOR employees on the customer’s site
full time); and 2) services contracts not signed in advance for
similar maintenance, repair and retrofit work on an as needed
basis. Fixed price services contracts are generally performed
evenly over the contract pericd, and accordingly, revenue is
recognized on a pro-rata basis over the life of the contract.
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Revenues derived from other services contracts are recognized
when the services are performed in accordance with Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial
Statements.” Expenses related to services contracts are
recognized as services are provided.

Provisions for estimated l0sses on uncompleted long-term
contracts are made in the period in which such losses are
determined. In the case of customer change orders for
uncompleted long-term construction contracts, estimated
recoveries are included for work performed in forecasting
ultimate profitability on certain contracts. Due to uncertainties
inherent in the estimation process, it is reasonably possible that
completion costs, including those arising from contract penalty
provisions and final contract settlements, will be revised in the
near term. Such revisions to costs and income are recognized
in the period in which the revisions are determined.

Costs and estimated earnings on

uncompleted contracts

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on
uncompleted contracts arise when revenues have been
recorded but the amounts cannot be billed under the terms of
the contracts. Such amounts are recoverable from customers
upon various measures of performance, including achieverment
of certain milestones, completion of specified units or
completion of the contract.

Also included in costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted
contracts are amounts EMCOR seeks or will seek to collect
from customers or others for errors or changes in contract
specifications or design, contract change orders in dispute or
unapproved as to scope or price, or other customer-related
causes of unanticipated additional contract costs (claims and
unapproved change orders). These amounts are recorded at
their estimated net realizable value when realization is probable
and can be reasonably estimated. No profit is recognized on
the construction costs incurred in connection with these
amounts. Claims and unapproved change orders made by
EMCOR involve negotiation and, in certain cases, litigation.

In the event litigation costs are incurred by EMCOR in
connection with claims or unapproved change orders, such
litigation costs are expensed as incurred, although EMCOR
may seek to recover these costs. EMCOR believes that it has
established legal basis for pursuing recovery of recorded
unapproved change orders and claims, and it is management’s
intention to pursue and litigate such claims, if necessary, until a
decision or settlement is reached. Unapproved change orders
and claims also involve the use of estimates, and itis
reascnably possible that revisions to the estimated recoverable

amounts of recorded claims may be made in the near term.
If EMCOR does not successfully resolve these matters, an
expense may be reguired, in addition to amounts that have
been previously provided for. Claims against EMCOR are
recognized when a loss is considered probable and amounts
are reasonably determinable.

Costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts and
related amounts billed as of December 31, 2002 and 2001
were as follows (in thousands):

Costs incurred on
uncompleted contracts $ 7,022,638 | $ 4,779,515
Estimated earnings 604,732 485,394
7,627,370 5,264,909
Less: billings to date 7,754,653 5,362,802
$ (127,283)| $ (97,893

Such amounts were included in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2002 and 2001
under the following captions (in thousands):

2002 2001 |
Costs and estimated earnings
in excess of billings on
uncompleted contracts $ 235809 | $ 221,272
Billings in excess of costs and
estimated earnings on
uncompleted contracts (363,092) (319,165)
$ (127,283} $ (97,893)

As of December 31, 2002, costs and estimated earnings

in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts included
unbilled revenues for unapproved change orders of
approximately $35.9 million and claims of approximately

$53.3 million. In addition, accounts receivable as of December 31,
2002 include claims and contractually billed amounts related to
such contracts of approximately $45.1 million. Generally,
contractually billed amounts will not be paid by the customer to
EMCOR until final resolution of related claims. Included in the
claims amount is approximately $38.7 million related to two
projects of EMCOR'’s Poole & Kent subsidiary which had
commenced prior to EMCOR's acquisition of

Poole & Kent in 1899.
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Classification of Contract Amounts

tn accordance with industry practice, EMCOR classifies as cur-
rent all assets and liabilities related to the performance of long-
term contracts. The contracting cycle for certain long-term con-
tracts may extend beyond one year and, accordingly, collection
or payment of amounts related to these contracts may extend
beyond one year. Accounts receivable at December 31, 2002
and 2001 included $172.1 million and $138.6 million,
respectively, of retainage billed under terms of the contracts.
EMCOR estimates that approximately 85% of retainage
recorded at December 31, 2002 will be collected during 2008.

Cash and cash equivalents

For purposes of the consolidated financial statements, EMCOR
considers all highly liquid instruments with original maturities of
three months or less to be cash equivalents. EMCCR maintains
a centralized cash management program whereby its excess
cash balances are invested in high-quality, short-term money
market instruments which are considered cash equivalents.

At times, cash balances in EMCOR's bank accounts exceed
federally insured limits.

Inventories

Inventories, which consist primarily of construction materials,
are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined
principally using the average cost method. Inventories
increased by $5.1 million “o $12.3 miflion at December 31,
2002 compared to $7.2 million at December 31, 2001 primarily
due to inventories of the companies acquired during 2002,

investments, notes and other long-term receivables
Investments, notes and other long-term receivables at
December 31, 2002 were $24.6 million compared to

" $16.8 million at December 31, 2001, and primarily consist of
investments in joint ventures accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. Thie increase was primarily due to a
$14.0 million capital contribution to a venture with Baltimore
Gas & Electric to design, construct, own, operate, lease and
maintain facilities to produce chilled water for sale to customers
for use in cooling, which was partially offset by decreases in
other investments.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation,
including amortization of assets under capital leases, is record-
ed principally using the straight-line method over estimated
useful lives ranging from two to 40 years. As events and
circumstances indicate, EMCOR reviews the carrying amount
of property, plant and equipment for impairment. In performing
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the review for recoverability, long-lived assets are assessed for
possible impairment by comparing their carrying values to their
undiscounted net pre-tax cash flows expected to result from
the use of the asset. Impaired assets are written down to their
fair values, generally their discounted cash flows. Through
December 31, 2002, no adjustment for the impairment of prop-
erty, plant and equipment carrying value has been required.

Property, plant and equipment in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets consisted of the following
amounts as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 (in thousands):

1
2002 | 20071
Machinery and equipment $ 72698 | § 54225
Furniture and fixtures 36,527 22,858
Land, buildings and

leasehold improvements 38,475 28,016
147,700 105,099

Accumulated depreciation
and amortization (76,850) (62,551)
$ 70,750 | § 42,548

Goodwill and identifiable intangible assets

Goodwill at December 31, 2002 and 2001 was approximately
$290.4 million and $56.0 million, respectively, and reflects the
excess of cost over fair market value of net identifiable assets of
companies acquired.

EMCOR has adopted the following accounting standards
issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”):
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141,
“Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141”) and Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142"). SFAS 141 requires
that all business combinations be accounted for using the
purchase method of accounting and that certain intangible
assets acquired in a business combination be recognized as
assets apart from goodwill, SFAS 142 requires goodwill to

be tested for impairment under certain circumstances and
written down when impaired, rather than being amortized

as previous standards required. The goodwill impairment

test is calculated by comparing the discounted estimated
future cash flows to the carrying value of goodwill on the

date of the test. Furthermore, SFAS 142 requires identifiable
intangible assets, other than goodwill, to be amortized over
their useful lives unless these lives are determined to be
indefinite. After the initial and the annual impairment review
required by SFAS 142, EMCOR determined that the adoption
of SFAS 142 has not resulted in the impairment of the carrying
value of its existing goodwill.
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The following table presents EMCOR's adjusted net income attributable to common stock, basic earnings per share and diluted
earnings per share assuming the add back of amortization of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000

(in thousands, except per share data):

For the year ended December 31, 2001

Basic Diluted
Ineure avelebie Incorre avelebie ‘
o Gamrnen Exrnirgs o wemmen [Earmings
Reported net income attributed to .
EMCOR common stock $ 50,012 ¢ 386 $ 51,747 % 340
Add back amortization of goodwill,
net of income tax 3,083 0.24 3,083 0.20
Adjusted net income attributed to
EMCOR common stock $ 53005 $ 410 $ 54830 $ 3.60
For the year ended December 31, 2000
Basic Diluted
jeleouigiont EEMINgs jeleetman B30 ReS]
sockhelders  per dhere sogdaldsrs  per ehEre
Reported net income attributed to
EMCOR common stock $ 40,089 $ 384 $ 44057 $ 295
Add back amortization of goodwiill,
net of income tax 2,586 0.25 2,586 0.17
Adjusted net income attributed to
EMCOR common stock $ 42675 $ 4.09 $ 46,643 $ 3.12

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during the year
ended December 31, 2002 were as follows (in thousands):

Balance at beginning of pericd $ 56,011
Goodwill for acquisition of businesses 225,783
Earn-out payments on prior year acquisitions 8,618
Balance at end of period $ 290412

identifiable intangible assets comprise $8.2 million in market
value of customer backlog and $6.4 million of trademarks and
tradenames acquired as a result of acquisitions in 2002.

The $8.2 million is being amortized on the straight-line method
over periods from one to four years, depending on the values
ascribed to each contract type. The $6.4 million is not being
amortized as trademarks and tradenames are not amortizable
in accordance with SFAS 142, but are subject to at least an
annual review for impairment in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”).
See Note G- Acquisitions of Businesses for additional
information. The following table presents the estimated future

amortization expense of identifiable intangible assets as of
December 31, 2002 (in thousands):

ioulizatioy]

2003 $ 2,818
2004 2,132
2005 1,781
2006 714
Thereafter -
$ 7,445

L

insurance Liabilities

EMCOR's insurance liability is determined actuarially based
on claims filed and an estimate of claims incurred but not yet
reported. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the estimated
current portion of undiscounted insurance liabilities of

$9.1 million and $7.6 million, respectively, were included in
“Other accrued expenses and liabilities” in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The estimated non-current
portion of the undiscounted insurance liabilities were included in
“Other long-term obligations,” and at December 31, 2002 and
2001 was $783.5 million and $66.0 million, respectively.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying values of EMCOR's financial instruments, which
include accounts receivable and other financing commitments,
approximate their fair values due primarily to their short-term
maturities.

During the second quarter of 2001, EMCOR called for
redemption of its $115.0 million 5.75% convertible
subordinated notes. As a consequence, all of the convertible
subordinated notes were converted into approximately

4.2 million shares of EMCOR common stock.

Foreign Operations

The financial statements and transactions of EMCOR’s foreign
subsidiaries are maintained in their functional currency and
translated into U.S. dollars in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 52, “Foreign Currency
Translation.” Translation adjustments have been accumulated
as a separate component of Stockholders’ eguity as
Accumulated other comprehensive loss.

Valuation of Stock Option Grants

Nete B | Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

income Taxes
EMCOR accounts for income taxes in accordance with the pro-
visions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.103,
“Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS 108”). SFAS 109 requires
an asset and liability approach which requires the recognition of
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities for the expected
future tax consequences of temporary differences between the
carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities.
Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce
net deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.

Derivatives and Medging Activities

Gains and losses on contracts designated as hedges of net
investments in foreign subsidiaries are recognized in the
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and
Comprehensive Income as a component of Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss).

As of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, EMCOR did not
have any derivative instruments,

At December 31, 2002, EMCOR has six stock-based compensation plans and programs, which are described more fully in

Note I-Stock Options and Stock Plans. EMCOR applies Accounting Principies Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued
to Employees” (*“APB 25") and related interpretations in accounting for its stock options. Accordingly, no compensation cost has
been recognized in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000 with respect to stock options granted during those years inasmuch as EMCOR grants stock options at fair market value. Had
compensation cost for these options been determined consistent with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”), EMCOR's net income, basic earnings per share (*Basic EPS”) and
diluted earnings per share (“Diluted EPS”) would have been reduced from the following “as reported amounts” to the following

“pro forma amounts” (in thousands, except per share amounts):

New Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 141 and SFAS 142, SFAS
141 requires that all business combinations be accounted for
using the purchase method of accounting and that certain
intangible assets acquired in a business combination be
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2002 2001 2000 |

Net income

As reported $ 62902 | $ 50,012 $ 40,089

Less: Total stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value

based method, (described in Note J}, net of related tax effects 2,690 4,772 2,886

Pro forma $ 60212 | $ 45240 $ 37,204
Basic EPS

As reported $ 423 | $ 386 % 3.84

Pro forma $ 405 | $ 348 $ 3.56
Diluted EPS

As reported $ 407 | $ 340 % 2.95

Pro forma $ 390 | $ 3.08 8 2.76

recognized as assets apart from goodwill. SFAS 141 was
effective for all business combinations initiated after June 30,
2001. SFAS 142 requires goodwill to be tested for impairment
under certain circumstances, and written down when impaired,
rather than being amortized as previous standards required.




Nee B | Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The goodwill impairment test is calculated by comparing the
discounted estimated future cash flows to the carrying value of
goodwill on the date of the test. Furthermore, SFAS 142
requires identifiable intangible assets other than goodwill to

be amortized over their useful lives unless these lives are
determined to be indefinite. After the initial and the annual
impairment review required by SFAS 142, EMCOR determined
that the adoption of SFAS 142 has not resuited in the
impairment of the carrying value of its existing goodwill.

The 2002 reduction in expense due to the discontinuance

of goodwilt amortization was $5.5 million. For the year ended
December 31, 2002, $0.8 million of amortization expense

was recorded refated to certain identifiable intangible assets of
$9.6 million for the Acquired Comfort Companies.

In May 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 145, “Rescission of FASB
Statements Nos. 4, 44, and 684, Amendment of FASB
Statement No. 13 and Technical Corrections” which is effective
for fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002, This statement,
among other matters, provides guidance with respect to the
accounting for gain or loss on capital leases that were modified
to become operating leases. The statement also eliminates the
requirement that gains or losses on the early extinguishment of
debt be classified as extraordinary items and provides guidance
when the gain or loss on the early retirement of debt should or
should not be reflected as an extraordinary item.

In July 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 146, “Accounting for Costs
Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” This statement
requires that costs associated with terminating employees or
contracts or closing or relocating facilities are to be recognized
at fair value at the time the liability is incurred. The Company
does not anticipate that this statement will have an effect on its
financial statements when it becomes effective for disposal
activities initiated after December 31, 2002.

in November 2002, the FASB issued Financial Accounting
Standards Board Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’'s Account-
ing and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including
Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, an interpre-
tation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57, and 107 and Rescission
of FASB Interpretation No. 34" (“FIN 45" or the “Interpretation”).
FIN 45 clarifies the requirements of FASB Statement No. 5,
*Accounting for Contingencies,” relating to the guarantor’s
accounting for, and disclosure of, the issuance of certain types
of guarantees. FIN 45 requires that upon issuance of a
guarantee, the guarantor must recognize a liability for the fair
value of the obligation it assumes under that guarantee. The
disclosure provisions of the Interpretations are effective for

financial statements of interim or annual periods that end after
December 15, 2002. The Interpretation’s provisions for initial
recognition and measurement should be applied on a prospec-
tive basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31,
2002, irrespective of the guarantor’s fiscal year-end. The
guarantor’s previous accounting for guarantees that were
issued before the date of FIN 45's initial application may not be
revised or restated to reflect the effect of the recognition and
measurement provisions of the Interpretation. EMCOR has
guarantees that will be subject to the accounting and disclosure
provisions of the Interpretation, and therefore, adoption of FIN
45 may impact disclosures in the first guarter of its next fiscal
year. EMCOR is currently evaluating the recognition and
measurement impacts of adoption,

In January 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation—Transition and Disclosure” ("SFAS 148”). SFAS
148 amends FASB Statement No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation” (*SFAS 123"} to provide alternative
methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value
based method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation. In addition, SFAS 148 amends the disclosure
requirements of SFAS 123 to reqguire prominent disclosures in
both annual and interim financial statements of the method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the
effect of the method used on reported results. SFAS 148 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2002
and was adopted by EMCOR for all periods presented.
EMCOR did not change to the fair value based method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation;
therefore, adoption of SFAS 148 will impact only future
disclosures, not the financial results, of EMCOR.

“M@@g © | Acquisitions of Businesses

On March 1, 2002, EMCOR acquired the Acquired Comfort
Companies. Accordingly, the Consolidated Results of
QOperations for EMCOR for the year ended December 31, 2002
include the results of operations for the Acquired Comfort
Companies since March 1, 2002. The purchase price paid for a
100% voting interest of the Acquired Comfort Companies was
$186.25 million and comprised $164.15 million in cash and
$22.1 million by assumption of Seller’s notes payable to former
owners of certain of the Acquired Comfort Companies.
Pursuant to the terms of the acqguisition agreement, an
additional $7.1 million of cash purchase price was paid by
EMCOR to Seller subsequent to the acquisition date due to an
increase in net assets of the Acquired Comfort Companies
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between the closing date and an agreed upon preciosing date.
The acquisition was funded with $121.25 million of EMCOR's
funds and $50.0 million from borrowings under EMCOR's
revolving credit facility. The Acquired Comfort Companies,
which are based predominantly in the Midwest United States
and New Jersey, are active in the installation and maintenance
of mechanical systems and the design and installation of
process and fire protection systems. Services are provided

to a wide variety of industries, including the food processing,
pharmaceutical and manufacturing/distribution sectors.

On December 19, 2002, EMCOR acquired CES. CES primarily
provides a broad array of facility services, including compre-
hensive facilities management, operation and maintenance,
mobile services, remaote monitoring, technical consulting and
diagnostic services, and installation and support for building
systems. The purchase price paid for CES was $178.0 million,
of which $156.0 million was paid from borrowings under
EMCOR's revolving credit facility and $22.0 million was paid
from EMCOR'’s funds. The purchase price is subject to
adjustment based on the difference between the net assets of
CES on the closing date and an agreed upon preclosing date.

EMCOR acquired two additicnal companies during 2002 for
which EMCOR paid an aggregate of $3.4 million.

EMCOR believes the addition of the companies acquired in
2002, which are generally in geographic markets where
EMCOR did not have significant presence, will further EMCOR’s
goal of market and geographic diversification, expansion of its
facilities services operations and expansion of its services
offerings. Additionally, the acquisitions create more

The following table summarizes the preliminary purchase price allccation related to the aforementioned acquisitions at December

31, 2002 (in thousands):

opportunities for EMCOR companies to collaborate on national
facilities services contracts. These factors contributed to
preliminary 2002 acquisition goodwifl of $225.8 million, which
represents the excess of purchase price paid to the estimated
fair value of the net assets at date of acquisition.

During 2002 and 2001, EMCOR paid an aggregate of
$8.6 million and $6.2 million in cash, respectively, by reason of
earn-out obligations with respect to prior year acquisitions.

The purchase price of certain acquisitions is subject to
finalization based on certain contingencies provided for in the
purchase agreements. These acquisitions were accounted for
by the purchase method, and the purchase price has been
allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based
upon the estimated fair values of these assets and liabilities at
the dates of acquisition. Goodwiill, representing the excess
purchase price over the fair value of amounts assigned to

the net tangible assets acquired, was $290.4 million and
$56.0 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Goodwill amortization expense for the years ended December
31, 2001 and 2000 was $5.5 million and $4.6 million,
respectively. See Note M—-Segment Information, for goodwill
by reportable segment.

The goodwill of $225.8 million was recorded based on
preliminary purchase price allocations primarily to the United
States mechanical construction and facilities services and
United States other services operating segments. it is expected
that approximately $151.0 miflion of the goodwill associated
with the acquisitions will be deductible for tax purposes. In
accordance with SFAS 141 and SFAS 142, goodwill will not be

Aeguired |

| Compenies CES  Acquisiicrs Total |
Current assets, including cash acquired 158,198 $ 92,430 $ 7,571 $ 258,199
Property, plant and equipment 11,384 16,084 189 27,667
Goodwill 122,348 102,083 1,352 225,783
identifiable intangible assets 9,600 5,000 - 14,600
Other assets 1,183 12,010 - 13,193
Total assets acquired 302,713 227,617 9,112 539,442
Current liabilities 109,060 48,004 5,568 162,632
Long-term cbligations 288 1,613 144 2,045
Total liabilities assumed 109,348 49,617 5,712 164,677
Net assets acquired 193,365 178,000 3,400 374,765
Notes payable assumed 22,115 - - 22,115
Cash purchase price 171,250 $ 178,000 3 3,400 $ 352,650
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amortized, while certain other intangible assets that have been
preliminarily identified will be subject to amortization over their
useful lives. As of December 31, 2002, $0.3 million of the Notes

payable assumed has been paid by EMCOR.

Of the total purchase price paid for the acquisitions, approximate-
ly $14.6 million has been allocated to identifiable intangible
assets, which includes acquired backlog and trademarks and
tradenames. Based on an independent valuation of the Acquired
Comfort Companies, $3.2 million was allocated to the value of
the contract backlog and will be amortized on a straight-line

basis over the individual related contract terms and $6.4 million
was allocated to trademarks and tradenames and will not be
amortized, but subject to an annual impairment test per SFAS
144. EMCOR has preliminarily estimated that $5.0 million of the
purchase price for CES, which is subject to a final valuation, will
be allocated to contract backlog as an identifiable intangible
asset, the amounts of which are subject to amortization on a
straight-line method. The amortization periods range from one
to four years. See also Note B—Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies for additional information.

The following tables present unaudited pro forma results of operations including all companies acquired during 2002 as if the
acquisitions had occurred at the beginning of fiscal 2001. The unaudited pro forma results of operations are not necessarily
indicative of the results of operations had the acquisitions actually occurred at the beginning of fiscal 2001, nor is it necessarily
indicative of future operating results (in thousands, except per share data):

Adjustments to Arrive at Pro Forma Resutts of Operations

{Unaudited)

% Moo Acauires

] 28 Comiart Cimer
For the Year Ended December 31, 2002 J Sepegcd Cormpanies() CE8Z  Acousions® g [Fermme
Revenues $ 3,868,051 $ 04,084 $ 403800 $ 15,284 $ 4,481,319
Operating income $ 114425 § (400 ¢ 11,401 8 1,401 § 127,187
Interest (expense) income, net $ (2,099 $ 1682 $ 6,509 $ 7 8 (8,439)
Income before income taxes $ 112326 ¢ 122 $ 4892 § 1,408 $ 118,748
Net income $ 629002 $ 68 % 2,740 8§ 788 $§ 66,498
Basic earnings per share $ 423 % 001 8 018 3 005 8 4.47
Diluted earnings per share $ 407 § 000 $ 018 $ 005 8 4.30

| =coR Aoaures i

s Cormforg Ot f

For the Year Ended December 31, 2001 ‘ Reporied Carrpanies(t) CESZ,  Acquieionsd) 1% romre: ‘J
Revenues $ 3,419,854 $§ 659,803 $ 400915 % 16,809 $ 4,497,381
Operating income $ 88682 $ 30118 $ 17278 3 473  $ 138,551
Interest (expense) income, net $ 792 % (1,499) § (9,903 $ 19  $ (10,591)
Income before income taxes $ 89474 $ 28619 § 7375 3 492  $§ 125,960
Net income $ 50012 $& 16027 §$ 4130 $ 275 § 70,444
Basic earnings per share $ 38 $ 124§ 032 % 002 % 5.44
Diluted earnings per share 3 340 % 1.05 § 027 § 002 §$ 4.74

The unaudited pro forma results of operations, for segment information, is included in Note M—Segment Information.

(1) Adjustments to arrive at pro forma results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2002 represent resutfts from January 1, 2002 through the acquisition date of
March 1, 2002. The adjustments for the year ended December 31, 2001 represent resuits of operations from January 1, 2001 through December 31, 2001.

(2) Adjustments to arrive at pro forma results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2002 represent results from January 1, 2002 through the acquisition date of
December 19, 2002. The adjustments for the year ended December 31, 2001 represent results of operations from January 1, 2001 through December 31, 2001,

{3) Adjustments to arrive at pro forma results of operations for the year ended December, 31, 2002 represent results from January 1, 2002 through the date of each
acquisition. The adjustments for the year ended December 31, 2001 represent results of operations from January 1, 2001 through December 31, 2001.
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Neie B  Earnings Per Share

The following tables summarize EMCOR’s calculation of Basic and Diluted Earnings per Share (“EPS") for the years ended

December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000:

2002

Areuns

IPceme Sheres
(Nurneretor)  (Cerorineton)

Basic EPS

Income avallable to common stockholders
Effect of Dilutive Securities:

Options

Diiuted EPS

$62,802,000 14,876,906 4.23

- 580,086
$62,902,000 15,457,002 4.07

Ineoe Sharss  Per Shae |

2001 Numsreter,  (Denomireior Aot |
Basic EPS
Income available to common stockholders $50,012,000 12,948230 $ 3.86
Effect of Dilutive Securities:
Convertible Subordinated Notes including assumed

interest savings, net of tax 1,735,385 1,820,273
Options - 471,705
Diluted EPS $51,747,395 15,240,208 $ 3.40
2000 | Numemior)  (Denerminator) Arunt |
Basic EPS
Income available to common stockholders $40,089,000 10,440,089 $ 3.84
Effect of Dilutive Securities:
Convertible Subordinated Notes including assumed

interest savings, net of tax 3,967,500 4,206,291
Options - 297,306
Diluted EPS $44,056,500 14,943,686 & 2.95

The number of EMCOR’s options granted, which were excluded from the computation of Diluted EPS for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 because they would be antidilutive, were 45,000, 210,100 and 37,000, respectively.

| Nefe 2 | Current Debt

2002 Credit Facility

On September 26, 2002, EMCOR entered into a new

$275.0 million, five-year revolving credit agreement (the
“Revolving Credit Facility”). The Revolving Credit Facility, which
replaced a credit facility entered into on December 22, 1998
(the “1998 Credit Facility”), is guaranteed by certain direct and
indirect subsidiaries of EMCOR, is secured by substantially all
of the assets of EMCOR and most of its subsidiaries, and
provides for borrowings in the form of revolving loans and for
letters of credit. The Revolving Credit Facility contains various
covenants requiring, among other things, maintenance of
certain financial ratios and certain restrictions with respect to
cumulative aggregate payments for dividends, common stock
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repurchases, investments, acqujsitions, indebtedness and
capital expenditures. A commitment fee is payable on the
average daily unused amount of the Revolving Credit Fagility.
The fee ranges from 0.3% to 0.5% of the unused amount,
based on certain financial tests. Loans under the Revolving
Credit Facility bear interest at: (1) a rate which is the prime
commercial lending rate announced by Harris Trust and
Savings Bank from time to time (4.25% at December 31, 2002),
plus 0% to 1.0%, based on certain financial tests; or (2) a LIBOR
rate (1.38% at December 31, 2002) plus 1.5% to 2.5%, based
on certain financial tests. The interest rates in effect at
December 31, 2002 were 4.25% and 2.88%, respectively.
Letter of credit fees issued under the facility range from 0.75%
to 2.5% and are charged based on the type of letter of credit
issued and certain financial tests. As of December 31, 2002




| Mefe B | Current Debt (continued)

and 2001, EMCOR had approximately $39.9 million and
$20.5 million of letters of credit outstanding, respectively.
EMCOR had borrowings of $112.0 million outstanding under
the Revolving Credit Facility at December 31, 2002.

No revolving loans were outstanding under the 1998 Credit
Facility at December 31, 2001.

Foreign Borrowings

In August 2001, EMCOR's Canadian subsidiary, Comstock
Canada Ltd., renewed a credit agresment with a bank providing
for an overdraft facility of up to Cdn. $0.5 million. The facility is
secured by a standby letter of credit and provides for interest at
the bank’s prime rate which was 4.0% at December 31, 2002,
There were no borrowings outstanding under this credit
agreement at December 31, 2002 or 2001,

Nete E | Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets consisted of the following amounts as of December 31, 2002

and 2001 (in thousands);

2002 2001 |

Notes Payable at 10.0% due 2003 $ 21,815 | $ -

Note Payable at 3.0%, due 2002 - 573
Capitalized Lease Obligations at weighted average interest rates from 3.0% to

12.5%, payable in varying amounts through 2006 351 249

Other, at weighted average interest rates of approximately 10.0%, payable in

varying amounts through 2012 1,015 973

23,181 1,795

Less: current maturities 22,276 947

$ 905 | § 848

Notes and Note Payabie

The Notes Payable of $21.8 million are notes made by Seller 1o
former owners of certain Acquired Comfort Companies, the
notes of which were assumed by EMCOR in connection with
the acquisition. The Notes Payable accrue interest at 10.0%
per annum and are due in full in April 2003. A $0.6 million Note
Payable outstanding at December 31, 2001 was paid in
January 2002,

Capitalized Lease Obligations
See Note K-Commitments and Contingencies.

Other Long-Term Debt

Other long-term debt consists primarily of loans for real estate,
office equipment, automobiles and building improvements.
The aggregate amount of other long-term debt maturing
during the next five years is approximatety $0.3 million in 2003,
$0.1 million in each of 2004, 2005, 2006 and 2007, and

$0.3 million thereafter,

Convertible Subordinated Notes

In March 1998, EMCOR sold, pursuant to an under written pub-
lic offering, $115.0 million principal amount of 5.75% Conver-
tible Subordinated Notes. During the second quarter of 2001,

EMCOR called for redemption of its $115.0 million 5.75%
Convertible Subordinated Notes and, as a consequence,
the Convertible Subordinated Notes were converted into
approximately 4.2 million shares of EMCOR common stock.

Nele @ | Income Taxes

EMCOR files a consolidated federal income tax return including
allits U.S. subsidiaries. At December 31, 2002, EMCOR

had net operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs") for U.S. income
tax purposes of approximately $2.9 million, which expire in the
year 2019, The NOLs are subject to review by the Internal
Revenue Service.

EMCOR adopted Fresh-Start Accounting in connection with
EMCOR's bankruptcy recrganization in December 1994,

As a result, the tax benefit of any net operating loss
carryforwards or net deductible temporary differences which
existed as of December 15, 1994 resulted in a charge to the tax
provision (provision in lieu of income taxes) and a credit to
capital surplus. These NOLs were substantially utilized as of
December 31, 2001. Amounts credited to capital surplus were
$21.4 million and $24.4 million for the years ended December
31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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[ @ | Income Taxes [continued)

The income tax provision in the accompanying Consalidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2002,

2001 and 2000 consisted of the following (in thousands):

1

200%

2000 |

Current
Federal
State and local
Foreign

Deferred

Provision in lieu of income taxes

$ 33,762 T$
7,686
544

5,274
7,049
1,889

1,364
3,394
1,180

41,992

14,312

5,938

7,432 |

3,725

1,138

21,425

24,422

S

48,424

39,462

$ 31,498

|

Factors accounting for the variation from U.S. statutory income tax rates relating to continuing operations for the years ended

December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 were as follows (in thousands):

1
Federal income taxes at the statutory rate $ 39,314 | $§ 313186 $ 25055
State and local income taxes, net of federal tax benefits 7,742 5376 3,894
Foreign income taxes 85 68 890
Other non-deductible expenses, including goodwil 1,201 2,088 1,771
Other 1,082 614 (112)
$ 49,424 | $ 39462 $ 31,498
L 3

The components of the net deferred income tax asset are included in “Prepaid expenses and other” and “Other assets” at
December 31, 2002 and 2001 in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The amounts recorded for the years ended

December 31, 2002, and 2001 were as follows (in thousands):

1
5 2001
Deferred income tax assetls
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 1,014 | $ 1,166
Excess of amounts expensed for financial statement purposes
over amounts deducted for income tax purposes 52,570 61,831
Total deferred income tax assets 53,584 63,097
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets (2,124) (3,624)
Net deferred income tax assets 51,460 59,473
Deferred income tax liabilities
Costs capitalized for financial statement purposes
and deducted for income tax purposes (24,011) (83,971)
Total deferred income tax liabilities (24,011) (33,971)
Net deferred income tax asset $ 27,4491 $ 25502
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' Kete @ | Income Taxes {continued)

Income before income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000 consisted of the following (in thousands):

.
2002 2003 2600 |
United States $ 108,733 | $§ 79699 $ 59,105
Foreign 3,593 9,775 12,482
$ 112,326 3 89,474 3 71,587

| Nete B | Common Stock its common stock prior to January 1, 2000. The aggregate
- amount of $16.8 million paid for those shares has been

As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, 14,818,877 and classified as "Treasury stock, at cost” in the Consolidated
14,813,714 shares of EMCOR common stock were Balance Sheet at December 31, 2002, EMCOR management
outstanding, respectively. Pursuant to a program authorized by is authorized to expend up to an additional $3.2 million to

the Board of Directors, EMCOR purchased 1,131,985 shares of purchase EMCOR'’s common stock under this program.

Mot 1 | Stock Options and Stock Plans

EMCOR has stock option plans and programs under which employees receive stock options and a stock bonus plan for executives
pursuant to which they receive restricted stock units. EMCOR also has stock option plans and restricted stock plans under which
non-employee directors may receive stock options or shares of common stock. A summary of the general terms of the grants under
stock option plans and programs and stock plans, were as follows:

3 Authorzed T A

j Sheres Vesting Dyiration Vatlurtfon Dt |
1994 Management Stock Option Plan 1,000,000 Generally, Ten years from Fair market value
(the “1994 Plan™) 33':% on each grant date of common stock
anniversary of on grant date

grant date

1995 Non-Employee Directors’ Non- 200,000 100% on grant date Ten years from Fair market vaiue
Qualified Stock Option Plan grant date of common stock
(the “1995 Pian”) on grant date
1997 Non-Employee Directors’ Non- 300,000 1 Five years from Fair market value
Qualified Stock Option Plan grant date of common stock
(the “1997 Directors’ Stock Option Plan”) on grant date (3)
1997 Stock Plan for Directors 150,000 2) Five years from Fair market value
(the “1997 Directors’ Stock Option Plan”) grant date of common stock
on grant date (3)
Executive Stock Bonus Plan 220,000 100% on grant date Ten years from Fair market value
("ESBP") grant date of common stock
on grant date
Other Stock Option Grants Not applicable Generally, either Ten years from Fair market value
100% on first grant date of common stock
anniversary of grant on grant date

date or 33Y:% on
grant or on or about
each anniversary of
grant date

(1) Until July 2000, non-employee directors could etect 1o receive one-third, two-thirds or ail of their retainer for a catendar year in the form of stock options. Since then
such directors have received and will receive alt of their retainer in the form of stock options. All options under this plan become exercisable quarterly over the calendar
year. In addition, each director will receive additional stock options equal to the product of 0.5 times the amount of stock options otherwise issued.

{2) Until July 2000, each non-employee director could elect to receive one-third, two-thirds or all of his retainer for a calendar year in the form of restricted stock units equal
in value to the retainer. In addition, the individual wouid have been entitled to receive additional restricted stock units equal to 0.2 times the amount of restricted stock
units otherwise issued as a result of his election. Following termination of Board service, the director, would receive shares of common stock equat to the number of
restricted stock units. :

(3) Generally, the grant date is the first business day of a calendar year.
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Nat2 [ : Stock Options and Stock Pians {continued)

The following table summarizes EMCOR's stock option and stock bonus plan activity since December 31, 1999:

1884 Plarm 1886 Plan
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Shares Price Shares Price ' Price
Balance, December 31, 1999 704,768 $ 10.47 93,000 $ 15.74 76,753 $ 17.94
Granted - - 18,000 $ 27.13 45612 $ 17.56
Forfeited - - - - - -
Exercised (23,001) $ 754 (10,500) $ 6.34 6,828) $ 16.19
Balance, December 31, 2000 681,767 $ 10.57 100500 $ 1876 115537 $ 17.89
Granted - - 18,000 § 42.30 31950 § 25.44
Forfeited - - - - - -
Exercised (97,366) $ 14.56 (15,000) $ 15.00 (7,602) $ 17.56
Balance, December 31, 2001 584,401 $ 9.90 103,500 $ 2339 139,885 $ 19.64
Granted - - 18,000 $ 54.87 16,933 $ 46.81
Forfeited (3,000) $ 19.75 - - - -
Exercised (57,200) $ 14.45 (10,500) $ 6.34 (24,296) $ 20.00
Balance, December 31, 2002 524,201 $ 9.35 111,000 $ 30.10 132,522 $ 23.04
1887 Directors’ Criher Siool |
Stock Plen =8B Option Gramts (
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
Balance, December 31, 1999 930 $ 19.87 - - 315000 $ 18.49
Granted - - - - 94,000 $ 18.44
Forfeited - - - - - -
Exercised (600) $ 20.00 - - (2,000) $ 16.50
Balance, December 31, 2000 330 § 19.63 - - 407,000 $ 18.49
Granted - - 56,707 $ 21.62 262,100 $ 37.36
Forfeited - - - - ~ -
Exercised - - - - (16,6668) $ 17.28
Balance, December 31, 2001 330 $ 19.83 56,707 $ 21.62 652,434 $ 26.10
Granted - - 36,568 $ 46.35 157,700 $ 47.00
Forfeited - - - - (2,000) $ 16.50
Exercised - - - - (13,167) $ 19.52
Balance, December 31, 2002 330 $ 19.63 93,276 $ 31.32 794,967 $ 30.38
48
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[ N "] N .
| Nete [ | Stock Options and Stock Plans {continued)

At December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, approximately 1,635,000, 1,271,000 and 1,005,000 options were exercisable, respectively.
The weighted average exercise price of exercisable options at December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was approximately $23.00,

$18.18 and $12.77, respectively.

The following table summarizes information about EMCOR's stock options at December 31, 2002:

B Opiions Outsianging | | Oprons Sxeroiseis

Range of Weighted-Average Weighted-Average Weighted-Average

Exercise Prices Number Remaining Life Exercise Price Number Exercise Price

$ 475- % 513 369,200 2.26 Years $ 492 369,200 $ 492
$ 14.31 - $ 20.00 635,469 4.81 Years $ 18.61 635,469 $ 18.61
$ 20.38 - § 22183 93,375 6.19 Years $ 21.70 87,043 $ 21.68
$ 2544 - § 2713 119,950 6.61 Years $ 2569 119,950 $ 2569
$ 41.70 - $ 46.35 406,869 8.77 Years $ 43.99 392,869 $ 44.07
$ 51.75 - $ 55.49 31,433 9.30 Years $ 5472 30,716 $ 54.79

The weighted average fair value of options granted during
2002, 2001 and 2000 were $47.50, $30.02 and $18.18,

respectively.

The pro forma effect on EMCOR’s net income, Basic EPS

and Diluted EPS, had compensation costs been determined
consistent with the recognition of compensation costs
provisions of SFAS 123, is presented in Note B—Summary

of Significant Accounting Policies. The associated pro forma
compensation costs related to the provisions of SFAS 123, net
of tax effects, were $2.7 milion, $4.8 million and $2.9 million for
the years ending December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,

respectively. The pro forma effect was calculated using

an estimated fair value of each option grant on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the
following weighted-average assumptions used for grants in
2002, 2001 and 2000: risk-free interest rates of 2.6% tc 6.6%
{representing the risk-free interest rate at the date of the grant);
expected dividend vields of zero percent; expected terms of
3.310 4.5 years; and expected volatility of 67.2%, 83.5%,
71.2% and 73.6% for options granted during 2002, 2001,
2000 and 1999, respectively.
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| Nete J | Retirement Plans

EMCOR’s United Kingdom subsidiary has a defined benefit
pension plan covering all eligible employees. The benefits under
the plan are based on wages and years of service with the
subsidiary. EMCOR's policy is to fund the minimum amount

required by law.

The change in benefit obligations and plan assets for the years

ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 consisted of the following

components (in thousands):

|
i 2009 |
Change in pension
benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginnirg
of year $ 110,588 | $ 101,488
Service cost 7,240 5,693
interest cost 7,532 6,083
Plan participants’ contributions 3,219 2,943
Actuarial (loss) gain (1,1806) 89
Benefits paid (2,897) (3,176)
Foreign currency exchange
rate changes 11,675 (2,522)
Benefit obligationatendofyear | $ 136,181 | $ 110,598
Change in pension plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at
beginning of year $ 89053 |3 95882
Actual return on plan assets (13,894) (10,322)
Employer contributions 6,708 6,108
Plan participants’ contributicns 3,219 2,943
Benefits paid (2,897) (3,176)
Foreign currency exchange
rate changes 9,402 (2,382)
Fair values of plan assets at
end of year $ 91,592 | $ 89,053
Funded status $ (44,589) | $ (21,545
Unrecognized transition amount (140) (199)
Unrecognized prior service cost 290 331
Unrecognized losses 42,791 21,441
Net amount recognized $ (1,648) | $ 28
Amounts recognized
in the Consolidated
Financial Statements
Prepaid benefit cost $ -1$ 28
Accrued benefit liability (7,243) -
Intangible asset 290 -
Accumulated other
comprehensive income 5,305 -
Net amount recognized 3 (1,648) | $ 28
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The assumptions used as of December 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000 in determining pension cost and liability shown above

were as follows:

——

2002

B
AV VN

2000 |

1

Discount rate
Annual rate of
salary provision
Annual rate of
return on
plan assets

5.0%

4.0%

7.0%

6.0%

4.0%

7.0%

6.0%

4.0%

7.0%

For measurement purposes, a 2.5% annual rate of increase in
the per capita cost of covered pension benefits was assumed
for 2002 and 2001.

The components of net periodic pension benefit cost for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 were as
follows (in thousands):

1

Service cost $ 7,240 5693 $ 6,028
Interest cost 7,532 6,083 5,653
Expected return

on plan assets (7,225) 6,781) 1,359
Net amortization

of prior

service cost

and actuarial

loss/(gain) 78 69 (8,549)
Amortization

of unrecognized

loss 765 - -
Net periodic

pension

benefit cost $ 8,388 5064 $ 4,391

The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit
pension plan for the years ended December 31, 2002 and

2001 was $98.8 million and $88.6 million, respectively.

EMCOR contributes to various union pension funds based
upen wages paid to its union employees. Such contributions
approximated $101.2 mitiion, $92.0 million and $88.9 million
for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 20C0,

respectively.




| Nee J | Retirement Plans (continued)

EMCOR has a defined contribution retirement plan that

covers U.S. eligible non-union employees. Contributions

to this plan are based on a percentage of the employee’s

base compensation. The expense recognized for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 for the defined
contribution plan was $3.5 million, $3.2 million and $2.9 million,
respectively.

EMCOR’s United Kingdom subsidiary has a defined
contribution retirement plan that began in 2002. The expense
recognized for the year ended December 31, 2002 was

$0.3 million,

EMCOR's Canadian subsidiary has a defined contribution
retirement plan. The expense recognized was approximately
$0.3 million in each of the years ended December 31, 2002
and 2001.

Nefe K / Commitments and Contingencies

EMCOR and its subsidiaries lease land, buildings and
equipment under various leases. The leases frequently include
renewal options and require EMCOR to pay for utilities, taxes,
insurance and maintenance expenses.

Future minimum payments, by year and in the aggregate, under
capital leases, non-cancelable operating leases and related
subleases with initial or remaining terms of one or more years at
December 31, 2002 were as follows (in thousands):

| Capitai Opsreiing Sullieese
Leses ease Incoms
2003 $ 200 $ 38624 $ 852
2004 107 31,524 650
2005 45 23,577 538
2006 16 15,690 393
2007 - 10,206 393
Thereafter - 22,320 2,679
Total minimum
lease payment 368 $ 141,941 $ 5,506
Amounts
representing
interest (17)

Present value of
net minimum
lease payments  $

Rent expense for operating leases and other rental items

for years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was
$36.5 million, $28.5 million and $25.4 million, respectively.
Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001
and 2000 included sublease rental income of $0.8 million,
$0.7 milion and $0.6 million, respectively.

EMCOR has employment agreements with its executive
officers and its key management personnel. The employment
agreements with executive officers may be terminated by

the executive or EMCOR, but if terminated by EMCOR,

the agreements provide for severance benefits. Certain

of the agreements provide the executive officers with certain
additional rights if a change of control, as defined, of
EMCOR occurs.

EMCOR is contingently liable to sureties with respect to
performance and payment bonds issued by sureties, usually

at the request of customers in connection with construction
projects which secure EMCOR payment and performance
obligations under contracts for such projects. In addition, at the
request of unions representing EMCOR employees, bonds are
provided to secure such obligations for wages and benefits
payable to or for such employees. As of December 31, 2002
sureties had issued bonds for the account of EMCOR in the
aggregate amount of approximately $1.3 billion. To the extent
such bonds were for the benefit of customers (as opposed to
unions), they related to over 675 construction projects. The
bonds are issued by EMCOR's sureties in return for a premium,
which varies depending on the size of the bonds. The individual
amounts for bonded projects range up to $170.0 million.
EMCOR has agreed to indemnify the sureties for any payments
made by them in respect of bonds.

EMCOR is subject to regulation with respect to the handiing

of certain materials used in construction which are classified

as hazardous or toxic by Federal, State and local agencies.
EMCOR?s practice is to avoid participation in projects principally
involving the remediation or removal of such materials.
However, when remediation is a required part of its contract
performance, EMCOR believes it complies with all applicable
regulations governing the discharge of material into the
environment or otherwise relating to the protection of the
environment.
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| Nefe [X | Commitments and Contingencies (continued)
A subsidiary of EMCOR has guaranteed indebtedness of a
venture in which it has a 40% interest; the other venture partner,
Baltimore Gas and Electric, has a 60% interest. The venture
designs, constructs, owns, operates, leases and maintains
facilities to produce chilled water for sale to customers for use
in cooling. These guarantees are not expected to have a
material adverse effect on EMCOR's financial position or results
-of operations. Each of the venturers is jointly and severally
liable, in the event of default, for the venture's $25.0 million
borrowing due December 2031. During September 2002, each
venture partner contributed equity to the venture, of which
EMCOR's contribution was $14.0 million.

Nete L | Additional Cash Flow Information

The following presents information about cash paid for interest
and income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000 (in thousands):

— |
Cash paid during
the year for
Interest $ 7,042 | % 4,195 $ 8290
Income taxes $ 45,785 | $ 7,846 $ 4,039
Non-cash financing
activities
Debt assumed
in acquisition $ 22115 | 3 - 3 -
5.75% Convertible
Subordinated
Notes due 2005,
converted into
common stock $ -1 % 115000 $ -
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| Nete Segment Information

EMCOR has the following reportable segments: United States
electrical construction and facilities services, United States
mechanical construction and facilities services, United States
other services, Canada construction and facilities services,
United Kingdom construction and facilities services and Other
international construction and facilities services. The segment
United States other services principally consists of those
operations which primarily provide consulting and maintenance
services, and Other international construction and facilities
services represents EMCOR’s operations outside of the United
States, Canada, and the United Kingdom (primarily in South
Africa, the Middle East and Western Europe) performing
electrical construction, mechanical construction and facilities
services. The following tables present information about
industry segments and gecgraphic areas for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000.




Nete M | Segment Information {continued)

The tables also present unaudited pro forma revenues and operating income as if the acquisitions had occurred at the beginning
of fiscal 2001. The unaudited pro forma revenues and operating income are not necessarily indicative of future operating results

{in millions):
Pro Forma
As Reported (Unaudited)
[ 1
2002 | 2007 2000 | | aoop 2001 |
Revenues from unrelated entities
United States electrical construction and facilities
services $ 1,524 | $ 13347 $ 1,3507 $ 11548 § 11,3475
United States mechanical construction and
facilities services 1,728.7 1,202.1 1,262.1 1,861.8 1,804.2
United States other services 236.7 209.7 163.9 614.5 582.3
Total United States operations 3,117.8 2,746.5 2,776.7 3,631.1 3,824.0
Canada construction and facilities services 316.3 198.2 237.0 316.3 198.2
United Kingdom construction and facilities services 533.9 463.6 446.2 533.9 483.6
Other international construction and facllities services - 11.6 0.3 - 1.6
Total worldwide operations $ 386880 |% 34198 $ 34602 § 448183 $ 44974
Total revenues
United States electrical construction and facilities
services $ 11,1913 | $ 13712 $ 11,3740 $ 11936 $ 11,3840
United States mechanical construction and
facilities services 1,732.6 1,234.9 1,283.7 1,865.8 1,927.1
United States other services 238.7 21565 166.8 616.5 588.0
Less intersegment revenues {(44.8) 75.1) (47.8) (44.8) (75.1)
Total United States operations 3,117.8 2,748.5 2,776.7 3,631.1 3,824.0
Canada construction and facilities services 316.3 198.2 237.0 316.3 188.2
United Kingdom construction and facilities services 533.9 463.6 4462 533.9 463.6
Other international construction and facilities services - 11.6 0.3 - 11.6
Total worldwide operations $ 39680 | % 34199 $ 3,460.2 $ 44813 $ 44974
Operating income (loss)
United States electrical construction and facilities
services $ 789 | % 753 % 58.6 $ 792 $ 77.0
United States mechanical construction and
facilities services 60.3 41.4 359 62.9 70.8
United States other services 3.3 (7.2) (5.5) 13.2 9.6
Total United States operations 142.5 108.5 89.0 155.3 157.4
Canada construction and facilities services 3.3 2.3 5.2 3.3 2.3
United Kingdom construction and facilities services 0.0 7.2 6.0 0.0 7.2
Other international construction and facilities services (0.1) (1.2) 0.5 0.1 (1.2)
Corporate administration (31.3) (29.1) (21.8) 31.3) (29.1)
Total werldwide operations 114.4 88.7 789 127.2 136.6
Other corporate items:
Interest expense (4.1) 4.8) 9.7 (10.7) (16.4)
Interest income 2.0 5.6 2.4 2.2 5.8
Income before taxes $ 1123 | $ 895 % 71.6 3 1187 $ 126.0
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| Noie M Segment information {continued)

(In thousands) 2002 2001 2000 ‘

Capital expenditures
United States electrical construction and facilities services 30 | § 37 % 35
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 5.1 5.1 6.1
United States other services 1.2 2.0 1.8
Total United States operations 8.3 10.8 11.4
Canada construction and facilities services 0.3 1.0 1.5
United Kingdom construction and facilities services 4.2 5.1 35
Other international construction and facilities services - - -
Corporate administration 1.8 1.0 0.8
Total worldwide operations 156 | $ 179 % 16.7

Depreciation and amortization
United States electrical construction and facilities services 35 | $ 35 3 3.1
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 7.1 3.9 3.7
United States other services 1.7 1.1 0.9
Total United States operations 12.3 8.5 7.7
Canada construction and facilities services 0.6 0.8 0.8
United Kingdom construction and facilities services 2.4 2.8 29
Other international conszruction and facilities services - - -
Corporate administration 0.1 0.6 0.1
Total worldwide operaticns 154 | $ 127 % 11.5

1

(in thousands) [7 2002 | 200

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts
United States electrical construction and facilities services $ 319 | 8§ 70.8
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 158.0 122.1
United States other services 0.9 1.2
Total United States operations 200.0 194 .1
Canada construction and facilities services 15.¢ 13.4
United Kingdom construction and facllities services 19.9 13.8
Other international construction and facilities services - -
Total worldwide operations $ 2358 | $ 221.3

Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts
United States electrical construction and facilities services $ 1569 | § 176.4
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 131.7 99.3
United States other services 10.1 1.9
Total United States operations 298.7 277.6
Canada construction and facilities services 10.8 7.2
United Kingdom construction and facilities services 53.6 34.2
Other international construction and facilities services - 0.1
Total worldwide operations $ 363.1 | $ 318.1
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Wl Segment Information {continued)

I
(In thousands) i 2001
Long-lived assets
United States electrical construction and facilities services 3 126 | $ 12.6
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 2040 459
United States other services 1394 22.1
Total United States operations 355.9 80.6
Canada construction and facilities services 3.3 3.7
United Kingdom construction and facilities services 13.7 10.7
Other international construction and facilities services - -
Corporate administration 21 3.6
Total worldwide operations $ 3750 | $ 98.6
Goodwill
United States electrical construction and facilities services $ 38 % 35
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 170.8 31.8
United States other services 115.8 20.7
Total United States operations 280.4 56.0
Canada construction and facilities services - -
United Kingdom construction and facilities services - -
Other international construction and facilities services - -
Corporate administration - -
Total worldwide operations $ 2904 | $ 56.0
Total assets
United States electrical construction and facilities services $ 3088 | 3% 417.7
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 815.5 457.6
United States other services 287.2 61.0
Total United States operations 1,411.5 936.3
Canada construction and facilities services 777 62.2
United Kingdom construction and facilities services 191.6 158.0
Other international construction and facllities services 5.1 11.5
Corporate administration 72.6 186.7
Total worldwide operations $ 11,7585 | $ 13497
Netz N | Selected Unaudited Quarterly Information
(In thousands, except per share data) Mears 31 June 30 Seeit. 3C D, 31
2002 Quarterly Resulis
Revenues $ 810,209 $ 986,399 $ 1,052,285 $ 1,119,068
Gross profit $ 89,386 $ 120,218 $ 129,233 $ 143,799
Net income 3 7,251 $ 14,828 $ 19,479 $ 21,344
Basic EPS $ 0.49 $ 1.00 3 1.31 $ 1.43
Diluted EPS $ 0.47 $ 0.96 $ 1.26 $ 1.38
2001 Quarterly Results
Revenues $ 837,555 $ 869,506 $ 848,629 $ 864,164
Gross profit $ 80,519 3 92,744 $ 100,867 $ 117,693
Net income $ 5,657 $ 11,622 $ 15,291 $ 17,442
Basic EPS $ 0.54 $ 1.00 $ 1.08 3 1.18
Dituted EPS $ 0.44 3 0.81 3 1.00 $ 1.14
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Nete © | Legal Proceedings

In February 1995, as part of an investigation by the New York
County District Attorney's office into the business affairs of a
general contractor that did business with EMCOR’s subsidiary,
Forest Electric Corp. (“Forest”), a search warrant was executed
at Forest’s executive offices. On July 12, 2000, Forest was
served with a Subpoena Duces Tecum to produce certain
documents as part of a broader investigation by the New York
County District Attorney’s office into illegal business practices
in the New York City construction industry. Forest has been
informed by the New York County District Attorney’s office
that it and certain of its officers are targets of the investigation.
Forest has produced dociuments in response to the subpoena
and intends to cooperate fully with the District Attorney’s office
investigation as it proceedis.

In December 2001, the Company’s Canadian subsidiary
Comstock Canada Limited (“Comstock”) commenced an
action against Atomic Energy of Canada Limited (“AECL")
claiming approximately Cdn. $6.0 million in connection with
Comstock’s work on two medical isotope nuclear reactors and
associated works at AECI_s facility at Chalk River, Ontario.
Comstock’s claim is for holdback, unpaid change requests,
loss of productivity and extended duration costs. AECL has
filed an amended defense denying Comstock’s claim and
counterclaimed against Comstock for Cdn. $47.0 million
claiming fraud and substantial deficiencies in Comstock’s
performance of work which are alleged to have resulted in
the need to replace much of Comstock’s work and installed
materials and the need to redesign and reinstall various
components of the reactor systems. These deficiencies are
alleged to have caused a significant delay in AECL’s ability to

obtain the necessary certifications for operation of the systems.

There has been no document exchange or discoveries in this
litigation. The Company believes it has good and meritorious
defenses to the AECL counterclaim.

In August 2002, the Company’s subsidiary Heritage Air
Systems, Inc., (“Heritage”) was added as one of twenty-one
defendants named in a civil action pending in the United States
District Court for the Eastern District of New York by a
competitor under the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. Section 1 & 2,
the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. Section 15 & 26, The Labor
Management Relations Act, 29 U.S.C. Section 187 (a), and
New York state law. Plaintiff, Coo! Wind Ventilation Corp.,
alleges a conspiracy in restraint of frade and a monopoly in the
sheet metal duct industry in New York City and Long Island.
Specifically, the plaintiff alleges that the defendant Sheet Metal
Workers International Association Local No. 28 (“Local 28"),
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certain other trade unions, contractors, including Heritage,
building owners and building managers viclated federal
antitrust and federal labor laws by entering into agreements
whereby Local 28 would engage in, and to threaten to engage
in, localized and widespread picketing and work stoppages at
job sites where plaintiff or other non-Local 28 contractors were
working in order to compel mechanical contractors to stop or
change the way they did business with plaintiff and other non-
Local 28 contractors. As a result of the alleged conspiracy,
plaintiff alleges that it and others were prevented from
competing in the most lucrative area of the sheet metal
ductwork industry. Plaintiff claims judgment for treble the
damages it believes it sustained and which it estimates to be
no less than $50.0 million. Heritage answered the amended
complaint, denying all claims of wrongdoing. Discovery
continued in the matter until December 2002 when the action
was stayed voluntarily to permit settiement discussions. In
January 2003, the District Court entered an order dismissing
the amended complaint, without prejudice, after it was advised
an agreement in principle settling the matter had been reached
by the parties. That agreement in principle does not require
Heritage to pay any damages or desist from engaging in any of
the conduct alleged in the amended complaint.

EMCOR is involved in other proceedings in which damages and
claims have been asserted against it. EMCOR believes it has a
number of valid defenses to such proceedings and claims and
intends to vigorously defend itself and does not believe that a
significant liability will result.

Inasmuch as the proceedings and claims in which EMCOR is
invalved range from a few thousand dollars to $50.0 million, the
outcome of which cannot be predicted, adverse results could
have a material adverse effect on EMCOR's financial position
and/or results of operations.




Reports of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of EMCOR Group, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet
of EMCOR Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002,
and the related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows
and stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income for the year
then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. The
financial statements of EMCOR Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2001, and for each of the two years in the pericd
then ended were audited by other auditors who have ceased
operations and whose report dated February 20, 2002, expressed
an ungualified opinion on those statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstaterent. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting

principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

in our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of
EMCOR Group, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2002, and
the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for
the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States.

As discussed in Note B to the financial statements, on January 1,
2002, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other intangible Assets,” which
changed the method of accounting for goodwill and other
intangible assets.

W«g MLL?

Stamford, Connecticut
February 21, 2003

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of EMCOR Group, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
of EMCOR Group, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries
(the “Company”) as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and
stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income for each of the
three years in the pericd ended December 31, 2001. These
consclidated financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on

our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company
as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Stamford, Connecticut
February 20, 2002

Note: This is a copy of the audit report previously issued by Arthur Andersen LLP in connection with EMCOR's consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2001. This audit report has not been reissued by Arthur Andersen LLP in connection with EMCOR'’s consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year

ended December 31, 2002,
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Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity anc
Related Stockholder Matters

Market information Holders
EMCOR's common stock trades on the New York Stock As of February 19, 2003, there were 130 shareholders of
Exchange under the symbol “EME.” record and, as of that date, EMCOR estimates there were

approximately 3,800 beneficial owners holding stock in

The following table sets fcrth high and low sales prices for the : . Y
nominee or “strest” name.

common stock for the periods indicated as reported by the
New York Stock Exchange:

Dividends
—— . © EMCOR did not pay dividends on its common stock during

2002 High Loy . . .

2002 or 2001, and it does not anticipate that it wil pay
First Quarter $ 571§ 4387 dividends on its common stock in the foreseeable future.
Second Quarter $ 6435 $ 5181 EyCORS working capital credit facilty limits the payment
Third Quarter 3 60.80 $ 48.20 of dividends on its common stock.
Fourth Quarter $ 5815 $ 44.71
2001 | High Low |
First Quarter $ 3142 $ 23.75
Second Quarter $ 4598 3 29.87
Third Quarter $ 4520 % 30.60
Fourth Quarter 3 4914  $ 31.74
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Corporate Information

Board of Directors

Frank T. Maclnnis
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
of EMCOR Group, Inc.

Stephen W. Bershad

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Axsys
Technologies, Inc., a manufacturer of electronic components
and controls

David A. B. Brown
President of The Windsor Group,
a management consulting firm

Larry J. Bump
Private Investor and Chairman of the Board of Willbros Group,
Inc., an international engineering and construction company

Corporate Officers

Frank T. Maclnnis
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Offi_cer

Jeffrey M. Levy
President and Chief Operating Officer

Sheldon . Cammaker, Esg.
Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

Leicle E. Chesser
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Sidney R. Bernstein, Esg.
Vice President, Taxation

Other Information

Corporate Headquarters

EMCOR Group, Inc.

301 Merritt Seven, 6th Floor, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851
203.849.7800 www.emcorgroup.com

Common Stock Transfer Agent and Registrar
Bank of New York

101 Barclay Street, New York, New York 10286
800.524.4458

SellCo Corporation

12% Subordinated Contingent Payment Notes, Trustee
State Street Bank and Trust Co.

225 Asylum Street, Hartford, Connscticut 06103

Attention: Corporate Trust Administration

860.244.1846

Albert Fried, Jr.
Managing Member of Albert Fried & Company, LLC, a
broker/dealer and member of the New York Stock Exchange

Richard F. Hamm, Jr.
Deputy General Counsel and a Vice President of Medtronic, Inc.,
a medical technology company

Michael T. Yonker
Former President and Chief Executive Officer of Portec, Inc.,
a diversified industrial products company

Trevor M. Foster
Vice President, Corporate Development

R. Kevin Matz
Vice President and Treasurer

Christine Names
Vice President, Human Resources

Mark A. Pompa
Vice President and Controller

Rex C.Thrasher
Vice President, Risk Management

independent Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP
1111 Summer Street, Stamford, Connecticut 06305

New York Stock Exchange Information
The Common Stock of EMCOR Group, Inc. is traded on the
New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “EME”

Additional copies of the Company’s Annual Report or Form 10-K as filed are available without charge upon written request to:
Investor Relations, EMCOR Group, Inc., 301 Merritt Seven, 6th Floor, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851
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We Work in a Diversity of Locations

United States

East

Aircond Corporation
Columbia, SC
Smyrna, GA

BALCO/J.C. Higgins
Boston, MA

Betlem Service
Corporation
Rochester, NY
Building Technology
Engineers, Inc. (BTE)
Boston, MA

Cherry Hill, NJ
Gaithersburg, MD
Orlando, FL
Combustioneer
Corporation
Rockyille, MD
Commonweaith

Air Conditioning &
Heating, Inc.

South Boston, MA
Consolidated
Engineering Services,
Inc.

Arlington, VA
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Duffy Mechanical
Corporation

Upper Marlboro, MD

Dynalectric Companies
Dulles, VA ™~
Miami Lakes, FL ™.
Newport News, VA -
Norcross, GA

EMCOR Energy &
Technologies, Inc.
New York, NY
Norwalk, CT

EMCOR Facilities
Services, Inc.
Ariington, VA

F & G Mechanical Corp.

Secaucus, NJ

Farest Electric Corp.
Edison, NJ

New York, NY
Gotham Air

Conditioning Service,
Inc.

Long Island City, NY
Heritage Mechanical
Services, Inc.

Deer Park, NY

J.C. Higgins Corp.
Stoughton, MA

Labov Mechanical, Inc.
Pleasantville, NJ

Mandeil Mechanical
Corp.

New York, NY
Meadowiands Fire
Protection Corp. (MFP)
Secaucus, NJ

New England

Mechanical Services,
Inc.

Hartford, CT
New London, CT
Palmer, MA
Pawtucket, R
Trumbull, CT
Vernon, CT
North Jersey

Mechanical
Contractors, Inc.

Waldwick, NJ
Penguin Air
Conditioning Corp.
Brooklyn, NY

Poole & Kent
Northern Operations
Baltimore, MD

Poole & Kent
Southern Operations
Miami, FL

Tampa, FL

West Palm Beach, FL

Geographically
speaking,
EMCOR's “growth
through diversity”
business model

focuses on strategic

locations that com-
plement our current
operations and
increase customer
outsourcing oppor-
tunities.

R.S. Harritan &
Company, Inc.

Richmond, VA

Trimech Corporation
Pompton Plaing, NJ

Tucker Mechanical
Meriden, CT
Weisbach Electric
Corp.

College Point, NY
Jamaica, NY
Welsbach Electric
Corp. of L.I.
Plainview, NY

iid-West

Advanced Systems
Computer Consultants

Fort Wayne, IN
Advanced
Systems Group
Fort Wayne, IN
Mishawaka, IN
American
Mechanical, Inc.
Royal Oak, Ml

Automated Controls
Springfield, IL
Building Technology
Engineers, Inc. (BTE)
Btoomington, MN
Broken Arrow, OK

Central Mechanica!
Construction Co., Inc.

Lawrence, KS
Manhattan, KS
Topeka, KS

DeBra-Kuempel
Cincinnati, OH
Dayton, OH

Dynalectric Companies
Colorado Springs, CO
Columbus, OH

Frisco, CO

Owensboro, KY

Troy, Ml

E.L. Pruitt Company
Mount Vernon, IL
Springfield, IL
EMCOR Energy &
Technologies, Inc.
Oak Brook, IL

The Fagan Company
Fort Scott, KS

Kansas City, KS
Springfield, MO

St. Louis, MO

Wichita, KS

Gibson Electric
Technology & Solutions
Oak Brook, IL
Bannockburn, 1L

Havel Bros.

Fort Wayne, IN
Indianapolis, IN
Kalamazoo, Ml
South Bend, IN

Hayes Mechanical, Inc.
Chicago, IL
Hyre Electric

Company of Indiana,
Inc.

Highland, IN

llingworth Corporation
Milwaukee, WI
Kilgust Mechanical,
Inc.

Madison, WI

Lowrie Electric
Company, Inc.
Bartlett, TN

Nogle & Black
Mechanical Inc.
Urbana, IL

PACE Mechanical
Services, Inc.
Westland, Ml




Design: Jack Hough Associates Inc. Norwal

The proximity of
EMCOR opera-
tions to our cus-
tomers in the
United States and
abroad has enabled
us to build long-term
relationships that
contribute to our
growth and stability.

Shambaugh & Son, L.P.
Addison, IL

Fort Wayne, IN
Indianapolis, IN
Lafayette, IN

Maumee, OH
Mishawaka, IN
Southfield, Ml

Viox Services, Inc.
Cincinnati, OH

Walker-J-Walker, Inc.
Memphis, TN

West

Border Electric Co., L.P.
Border Mechanical,
Co., L.P.

El Paso, TX
Building Technology

Engineers of North
America, LLC (BTENA)

Santa Ana, CA
Contra Costa
Electric, Inc.
Bakersfield, CA
Fresno, CA
Martinez, CA

Control Systems
Specialists

Hayward, CA

Design Air, Ltd.
Kent, WA

Dynalectric Companies
Lakewood, CO

Las Vegas, NV

Los Alamitos, CA
Portland, OR

San Diego, CA

San Francisco, CA
EMCOR Energy

& Technologies, Inc.
San Francisco, CA
Facilities
Knowledge Center
Phoenix, AZ

Gowan, Inc.
Houston, TX
Hansen Mechanical
Contractors, Inc.
Las Vegas, NV
Hillcrest Sheet
Metal, Inc.
Bakersfield, CA

KDC Systems
Los Alamitos, CA

Marelich Mechanical
Co., Inc.

Anaheim, CA
Bakersfield, CA
Hayward, CA

West Sacramento, CA
Mesa Energy
Systems, Inc.
Hayward, CA

Irving, CA

San Diego, CA

Van Nuys, CA
Newcomb

Anderson Associates
San Francisco, CA

Trautman & Shreve, Inc.
Denver, CO

University Marelich
Mechanical

Anaheim, CA

University Mechanical
& Engineering
Contractors, Inc.
(UMEC)

El Cajon, CA
Tempe, AZ

Wasatch Electric
Salt Lake City, UT

International
Canada

Comstock Canada Ltd.
Burlington, ON

Come by Chance, NF
Dartmouth, NS

Delta, BC

Edmonton, AB
Etobicoke, ON
Hamilton, ON
London, ON
Mississauga, ON
Ottawa, ON

Regina, SK

Saint John, NB
Thunder Bay, ON

Val Caron, ON
Victorig, BC
Winnipeg, MB

United Kingdom

EMCOR Drake &
Scull Group plc

Altrincham
Birmingham
Bishop's Stortford
Bristol

Bury St. Edmunds
Carshalton
Eastleigh
Fareham

Hatfield
Heathrow

Kew, Middlesex
Leeds

London
Manchester
Solihull
Sunderland
Thetford

West Hornden
Westwood

Additional
locations:

Abu Dhabi
Dubai
Hong Kong
Oman
South Africa

EMCOR Service

Bakersfield, CA
Boston, MA
Brooklyn, NY
Chicago, IL
Cincinnati, OH
Deer Park, NY
Fort Wayne, IN
Houston, TX
irvine, CA

Kansas City, KS
lLas Vegas, NV
Long Island City, NY
Memphis, TN
Meriden, CT
Miami, FL
Milwaukee, WI
Norwalk, CT
Pleasantville, NJ
Pompton Plains, NJ
Rochester, NY
Rockville, MD
Royal Oak, M!
Secaucus, NJ
Smyrna, GA
South Boston, MA
Vernon, CT
Westiand, Mi
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